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 QUESTION PRESENTED 

 In pursuit of a capital conviction and death sentence in this case, the 

prosecutor relied on an inflammatory impossibility. At Gregory Hunt’s trial in 1990, 

the prosecutor insisted that a stick had been inserted into the victim’s vagina, 

obtaining her cervical mucus on it. See, e.g., Tr. R. 861 (“She is laying there, God, she 

is beat to a pulp and he takes this broom stick and I suggest to you that evidence is 

none other than that he put it four inches deep in her vagina, to her cervix and the 

mucus secreted by the cervix is on it.”). However, the State’s expert witness now 

admits that the victim’s cervical mucus could not have been on the stick, as her cervix 

had been previously removed.  

This Court has established that the presentation of false evidence violates a 

defendant’s constitutional right to due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments. See Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 269 (1959); Giglio v. United States, 

405 U.S. 150 (1972). Although the jury was misled in this case, and in such a 

disturbing fashion, the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals denied Mr. Hunt’s claim. 

The court reasoned that Mr. Hunt should have challenged the falsity of this evidence 

at an earlier time, prior to the pathologist’s admission in 2016 that his trial testimony 

was dubious.  

This ruling — that Mr. Hunt was obligated to discover the falsity of the State’s 

evidence at an earlier time — is contrary to this Court’s precedents. See Strickler v. 

Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 286 (1999) (explaining that defendants have no “procedural 
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obligation to assert constitutional error on the basis of mere suspicion that some 

prosecutorial misstep may have occurred”); see also Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 

696 (2004) (“A rule thus declaring ‘prosecutor may hide, defendant must seek,’ is not 

tenable in a system constitutionally bound to accord defendants due process.”). 

 Mr. Hunt’s case thus presents the following question to this Court: 

May the presentation of false evidence in a capital case be excused for 

want of diligence, when the evidence was challenged only after the 

State’s expert admitted that his trial testimony was dubious? 
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PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

 Petitioner Gregory Hunt respectfully requests that this Court issue a writ of 

certiorari to review the judgment of the Alabama Supreme Court, which declined 

review of the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals’ decision affirming summary 

dismissal of his Napue/Giglio claim. 

OPINIONS BELOW 

 On August 3, 2018, the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals issued a 

memorandum opinion affirming dismissal of Mr. Hunt’s Napue/Giglio claim.1 On 

September 21, 2018, the Court of Criminal Appeals denied rehearing.2 On December 

14, 2018, the Alabama Supreme Court denied Mr. Hunt’s petition for writ of 

certiorari.3 

JURISDICTION  

 The judgment of the Alabama Supreme Court was filed on December 14, 2018. 

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1257(a). 

  

                                            
1 Attached as Pet. App. A. 

 
2 Attached as Pet. App. B. 

 
3 Attached as Pet. App. C.  
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RELEVANT CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS 

 The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in pertinent 

part: 

No person . . . shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness 

against himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due 

process of law . . . . 

  

 The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in 

pertinent part: 

No State shall . . . deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without 

due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the 

equal protection of the laws. 

 

  



 

3 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Allegations of sexual abuse were central to Mr. Hunt’s capital murder trial. He 

was charged with two counts of intentional murder during sexual abuse and one 

count of intentional murder during a burglary. The burglary charge referred to Mr. 

Hunt’s alleged unlawful entry into the victim’s home with the intent to commit sexual 

abuse.4 In support of a death sentence, the prosecution also relied on the sexual abuse 

burglary as an aggravating circumstance.5  

 In order to satisfy the element of sexual abuse, the prosecutor repeatedly 

asserted that Mr. Hunt had inserted a stick, found near the victim’s body, into her 

vagina. See, e.g., Tr. R. 929 (“He stuck the stick up her and that is atrocious.”); Tr. R. 

229 (“It is ou[r] contention, based on the evidence, that he put that stick up inside her 

to humiliate her further in death.”). To bolster this damaging allegation, the 

prosecutor claimed that the victim’s cervical mucus cells were found on the stick.  

 Larry Huys, a serologist employed by the Alabama Department of Forensic 

Sciences (“ADFS”), testified that mucus secretions were present on the stick.6 

However, he could not confirm the origin of the secretions. Mr. Huys admitted that 

the epithelial cell secretions may have come from any bodily orifice, including oral, 

                                            
4 See Tr. C. 964 (indictment). “Tr. C.” and “Tr. R.” refer to the clerk’s trial record and the trial transcript 

prepared on direct appeal, respectively. “C.” refers to the corrected clerk’s record, filed on March 12, 

2018, which was prepared for the instant post-conviction appeal. 

  
5 See Tr. R. 924. 

 
6 Tr. R. 388. 
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vaginal, anal, or nasal orifices.7 Mr. Huys also testified that the material was 

obtained from the end of the stick.8 Mr. Huys did not testify that these secretions 

came from the victim, Karen Lane.  

 Dr. Joseph Embry, a pathologist from ADFS, performed the autopsy on Karen 

Lane. Dr. Embry testified that he submitted a stick to Mr. Huys for serological 

examination.9 However, Dr. Embry acknowledged that there was no evidence of 

injury or damage to the victim’s vagina or anus.10  

 The prosecutor asked Dr. Embry about cervical mucus in relation to the 

vagina: 

Q. You said mucus is secreted by the outer part of the cervix; is that 

right? 

 

A. By the cervix which is the lower part of the uterus. 

 

Q. Okay. For lay persons how far, if any, would that be inside the 

vagina? 

 

A. At the top of the vagina. 

 

Q. On the outside or inside? 

 

A. Inside. 

 

Q. On the inside. How far on the inside, if you have a judgment? 

 

A. About four inches. 

                                            
7 Tr. R. 388, 400. 

 
8 Tr. R. 390. 

 
9 Tr. R. 258. 

 
10 Tr. R. 261. 
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Q. So, inside the vagina you have to go four inches to get where that 

mucus is; is that what you’re telling me, doctor? 

 

A. To get to where it is produced, yes, sir.11 

 

 The prosecutor later asked Dr. Embry specifically about the stick in reference 

to the victim’s vagina and cervix: 

Q. The broom stick in the photograph that I showed you, doctor, is it 

laying by the deceased’s nose? 

 

A. No, sir. 

 

Q. Is it laying in close promixity [sic] to her vagina? 

 

A. Yes, sir. 

 

Q. Is it still your opinion that you would have to go approximately four 

inches inside the vagina before you could get the mucus? 

 

A. My opinion was that the mucus produced by the cervix which is about 

four inches into the vagina. That was the line of questioning.12 

 

 Dr. Embry then testified that the stick must have been inserted four inches 

into the victim’s vagina to obtain mucus from her cervix: 

Q. So, we have to have that broom stick four inches inside of the 

deceased to get the vagina mucus on it? 

 

A. To get the cervical mucus, yes, sir.13 

 

                                            
11 Tr. R. 264-65. 

 
12 Tr. R. 267. 

 
13 Tr. R. 268. 
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 Dr. Embry now acknowledges that his testimony regarding the presence of the 

victim’s cervical mucus on the stick was inaccurate.14 At the time of her death, Karen 

Lane did not have a cervix.15 Dr. Embry’s autopsy report16 noted that the victim’s 

uterus had been medically removed,17 but the report’s wording did not disclose the 

extent of Ms. Lane’s hysterectomy. 

 The false assertion that cells found on the stick came from the victim’s cervix 

prejudiced Mr. Hunt in both the culpability and penalty phases of his trial. The 

prosecutor reiterated this false narrative during each of his statements to the jury, 

in horrific and lurid detail, which included likening the crime scene to a pornographic 

film. See Tr. R. 788 (“That is what this case revolves around; murder and sex. Stuff 

you see on these triple X rated movies. That is what this revolves around.”).  

 The trial judge relied on this false narrative as part of the order sentencing 

Mr. Hunt to death: “Between her legs a broomstick was recovered. After analysis of 

the broomstick, mucus was found on the tip, suggesting it had been inserted in her 

                                            
14 See C. 54-55 (Aff. of Dr. Joseph Embry), attached as Pet. App. D. 

 
15 Id. 
  
16 Tr. C. 1091-99 (State’s Ex. 17). 

 
17 Tr. C. 1098. 
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vagina.”18 The trial judge ultimately found that “Mr. Hunt did insert a broomstick 

into the vagina of Ms. Lane during the assault which led to her death . . . .”19  

GROUNDS SUPPORTING THE WRIT 

A. The falsity of Dr. Embry’s testimony was not apparent prior to his 

admission.  

 

“[I]t is established that a conviction obtained through use of false evidence, 

known to be such by representatives of the State, must fall under the Fourteenth 

Amendment[.]” Napue, 360 U.S. at 269. Dr. Joseph Embry of ADFS was the State’s 

pathologist at trial and, under Alabama law, a member of the prosecution team.20 

Contrary to his trial testimony, Dr. Embry now admits that the victim’s cervical 

mucus was not present on a stick found at the crime scene, as Ms. Lane did not have 

a cervix at the time of her death.21 

Relying on the autopsy report, the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals 

reasoned that Mr. Hunt “would have been aware of the implications of Dr. Embry’s 

testimony” in time to challenge its falsity prior to Dr. Embry’s admission that his 

                                            
18 Tr. C. 1045. 

 
19 Tr. C. 1047. 

 
20 See Hill v. State, 651 So. 2d 1128, 1131–32 (Ala. Crim. App. 1994) (“The duty of disclosure extends 

not only to the individual prosecutor and the prosecutor’s office . . . but also to persons working as part 

of the prosecution team or intimately connected with the government’s case, even if not employed in 

the prosecutor’s office, such as police, investigative agencies and officers, and all law enforcement 

agencies which have participated in the investigation or evaluation of the case and regularly report or 

have reported to the prosecutor.” (citations omitted)). 

 
21 See Pet. App. D. 
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testimony was inaccurate.22 But unlike Dr. Embry’s trial testimony, which 

specifically referenced the victim’s cervix and cervical mucus, the autopsy report does 

not mention the victim’s cervix. Instead, the autopsy report states: “The vagina is 

unremarkable. The uterus, fallopian tubes and right ovary have been removed.”23 

Hysterectomy is the medical term for surgical removal of the uterus.24 

According to the United States Department of Health and Human Services, there are 

three types of hysterectomy.25 A total hysterectomy “removes all of the uterus, 

including the cervix. The ovaries and the fallopian tubes may or may not be 

removed.”26 In a partial hysterectomy, also called subtotal or supracervical, “just the 

upper part of the uterus” is removed, while the “cervix is left in place.”27 Lastly, a 

“radical hysterectomy removes all of the uterus, cervix, the tissue on both sides of the 

cervix, and the upper part of the vagina.”28   

The autopsy report does not identify which type of hysterectomy was 

performed on Karen Lane, and does not state that her cervix was removed. Because 

                                            
22 Pet. App. A, at 9.  

 
23 Tr. C. 1098. 

 
24 See Hysterectomy, https://www.womenshealth.gov/a-z-topics/hysterectomy. 

 
25 Id. 
 
26 Id. 
 
27 Id. 
 
28 Id. 
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hysterectomy, “a surgery to remove a woman’s uterus[,]”29 may permit the cervix to 

remain in place, the autopsy report does not, as the Court of Criminal Appeals 

asserted, “indicate that the victim did not have a cervix.”30     

Dr. Joseph Embry, the medical doctor who performed the autopsy, was the only 

person qualified to attest to the condition of Ms. Lane’s cervix. The technical nature 

of this matter is evident from the prosecutor’s questioning, as he asked Dr. Embry to 

explain “[f]or lay persons . . . .”31 At Mr. Hunt’s trial, Dr. Embry’s testimony indicated 

that Ms. Lane had a cervix and cervical mucus: 

Q. So, we have to have that broom stick four inches inside of the 

deceased to get the vagina mucus on it? 

 

A. To get the cervical mucus, yes, sir.32 

 

However, Dr. Embry’s post-trial affidavit states unequivocally that she did not have 

a cervix or cervical mucus.33 

Like the jury, Mr. Hunt and his counsel were entitled to rely on the State’s 

expert witness, a pathologist from ADFS, to testify accurately about Ms. Lane’s body. 

See Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 696 (2004) (“‘Ordinarily, we presume that public 

officials have properly discharged their official duties.’” (quoting Bracy v. Gramley, 

                                            
29 Id. 
  
30 Pet. App. A., at 9. 

  
31 Tr. R. 264. 

 
32 Tr. R. 268. 

 
33 See Pet. App. D. 
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520 U.S. 899, 909 (1997))); see also Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 

579, 595 (1993) (“Expert evidence can be both powerful and quite misleading because 

of the difficulty in evaluating it.” (citation omitted)). Dr. Embry’s misleading expert 

testimony had a substantial and injurious impact on Mr. Hunt’s case. Indeed, during 

Dr. Embry’s direct and cross examinations, the terms “cervix” and “cervical mucus” 

were mentioned ten times.34 But the removal of Ms. Lane’s cervix was never disclosed.  

Because the autopsy report does not establish that Ms. Lane’s cervix had been 

removed, Mr. Hunt cannot reasonably be faulted for failing to challenge the veracity 

of the State’s evidence prior to Dr. Embry’s admission that his trial testimony was 

dubious. 

B. Mr. Hunt had no duty to discover the State’s misconduct at an 

earlier time. 

 

Despite the false evidence presented by the prosecution at Mr. Hunt’s capital 

trial, the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals denied relief, reasoning that “[n]othing 

in Hunt’s petition indicates that he was somehow unable to obtain an affidavit from 

Dr. Embry[] prior to 2016.”35 But as this Court and others have recognized, it is the 

prosecution’s burden to correct false testimony. Mr. Hunt had no lawful obligation to 

discover the State’s misconduct at an earlier time.  

                                            
34 See Tr. R. 262, 264, 266, 267, 268. 

 
35 Pet. App. A., at 9.  
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Under Napue, a prosecutor is prohibited from “soliciting false evidence” and is 

required not to “allow[] it to go uncorrected when it appears.” 360 U.S. at 269. “This 

rule applies equally when the state, although not soliciting perjured testimony, allows 

it to go uncorrected after learning of its falsity.” Williams v. Griswald, 743 F.2d 1533, 

1541 (11th Cir. 1984). At all times, the duty “to correct the false impression given by” 

Dr. Embry belonged to the State, not Mr. Hunt. United States v. Barham, 595 F.2d 

231, 243 (5th Cir. 1979); see also United States v. Sanfilippo, 564 F.2d 176, 178 (5th 

Cir. 1977) (“[T]he duty to correct the false testimony of a Government witness is on 

the prosecutor.”). 

The State’s duty of truthful disclosure is ongoing, and extends beyond trial or 

conviction. See High v. Head, 209 F.3d 1257, 1265 n.8 (11th Cir. 2000); see also 

Whitlock v. Brueggemann, 682 F.3d 567, 588 (7th Cir. 2012) (“[T]here is a continuing 

obligation on the state [] not because of some special right associated with post-

conviction or clemency but because ‘the taint on the trial that took place continues 

throughout the proceedings, and thus the duty to disclose and allow correction of that 

taint continues.’” (quoting Steidl v. Fermon, 494 F.3d 623, 630 (7th Cir. 2007))). “It is 

well established that the government’s obligation extends to the correction of not only 

perjurious testimony, but also to testimony that is false, or misleading[.]” Longus v. 

United States, 52 A.3d 836, 848 (D.C. 2012) (citations omitted); see also Alcorta v. 

Texas, 355 U.S. 28, 31 (1957) (holding that a habeas petitioner was denied due 
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process when a prosecution witness gave the jury a “false impression” of his 

relationship with the petitioner’s wife). 

Shifting this obligation to Mr. Hunt, as the Court of Criminal Appeals has 

done, is unreasonable. This Court has made clear that defendants have no 

“procedural obligation to assert constitutional error on the basis of mere suspicion 

that some prosecutorial misstep may have occurred.” Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 

263, 286 (1999). Dr. Embry’s misleading testimony cannot go unremedied merely 

because of the assumption that Mr. Hunt could have exposed it sooner. See United 

States v. Bigeleisen, 625 F.2d 203, 207 (8th Cir. 1980) (“Was the government relieved 

of its responsibility to correct the false testimony since defense counsel could have 

sought to introduce into evidence the letter which explained the terms of the 

agreement, or could have subpoenaed the witness’s lawyer to testify at trial, or could 

have asked the government to stipulate to the terms of the agreement? The Fifth 

Circuit said no.” (citing Sanfilippo, 564 F.2d at 178)). 

Mr. Hunt’s Napue/Giglio claim was therefore properly filed, as it was raised 

within six months of Dr. Embry’s admission that his testimony was misleading. See 

Ala. R. Crim. P. 32.2(c); cf. Pacheco v. Artuz, 193 F. Supp. 2d. 756, 761 (S.D.N.Y. 

2002) (explaining that the petitioner “could not have ‘discovered’” that a witness was 

willing to recant his false identification until the witness wrote a letter doing so). 
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C. Mr. Hunt was prejudiced by the false evidence presented at his 

trial. 

 

In Giglio, this Court recognized that a prosecutor’s presentation of false 

evidence violates a defendant’s constitutional right to due process. 405 U.S. at 155. 

“A new trial is required if ‘the false testimony could . . . in any reasonable likelihood 

have affected the judgment of the jury . . . .’” Id. at 154 (quoting Napue, 360 U.S. at 

271).    

The misleading expert testimony presented at Mr. Hunt’s trial was damaging. 

Although Dr. Embry acknowledged that there was no evidence of injury or damage to 

the victim’s vagina or anus,36 he indicated, upon questioning by the prosecutor, that 

a stick was inserted four inches into the victim’s vagina to obtain mucus from her 

cervix.37 Dr. Embry now acknowledges that the victim’s cervical mucus was not 

present on the stick because, at the time of her death, she did not have a cervix. 

The false impression that cells found on the stick came from the victim’s cervix 

prejudiced Mr. Hunt in both the culpability and penalty phases of his trial. The 

prosecutor reiterated this misleading narrative during each of his statements to the 

jury. Indeed, the prosecutor told the jury that this case “revolves around this stick, 

this broom stick.”38 

                                            
36 Tr. R. 261-62. 

 
37 Tr. R. 268. 

 
38 Tr. R. 788. 
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In the course of this litigation, the State has acknowledged that “the 

prosecution used Dr. Embry’s testimony to infer that the murder of Karen Lane 

occurred during a sexual abuse[.]”39 Mr. Hunt’s fundamental rights were violated 

because the jury was given a “false impression” by Dr. Embry. Alcorta, 355 U.S. at 

31; see also Hayes v. Brown, 399 F.3d 972, 988 (9th Cir. 2005) (explaining that it is 

unlawful “to place false or distorted evidence before a jury” (emphasis added)). 

This Court has recognized that “[t]he jury’s estimate of the truthfulness and 

reliability of a given witness may well be determinative of guilt or innocence[.]” 

Napue, 360 U.S. at 269. As the State’s primary forensic expert, and the pathologist 

who performed the autopsy, Dr. Embry’s misleading testimony had a tremendous 

impact on the jury. Cf. Shih Wei Su v. Filion, 335 F.3d 119, 129 (2d Cir. 2003) (viewing 

false testimony as material where witness was “prosecution’s chief witness” and the 

“conviction depended significantly on [the witness’s] testimony”); see also McCormick 

v. Parker, 821 F.3d 1240 (10th Cir. 2016) (“Ridling’s testimony was critical because 

she purported to provide an expert’s opinion of the only physical evidence 

presented.”).  

Absent Dr. Embry’s testimony, the import of the prosecution’s evidence is 

diminished. Although a stick was found at the crime scene, the substance on the stick 

was not conclusively determined. Larry Huys, a serologist, initially said the following 

about the stick: 

                                            
39 C. 154. 
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A. I found that on the rounded end of the broom stick, there were cells 

present which indicated mucus secretions were present.40 

 

So at the outset, Mr. Huys found cells on the stick, which indicated to him that there 

was mucus on the stick. Mr. Huys then testified that the cells could have been 

vaginal, oral, or anal in origin.41 On cross-examination, Mr. Huys admitted the cells 

could also have come from the nose, or any other orifice of a person.42 Although the 

prosecutor asked him how far down on the stick this material was located, 

presumably to support the insertion theory, Mr. Huys testified that he simply 

retrieved it from the rounded end of the stick.43 Contrary to the prosecutor’s violent 

imagery, Mr. Huys testified that he found no blood on the stick.44 Importantly, Mr. 

Huys did not testify that the cells on the stick were matched to the victim, or anyone 

else.   

Thus, the prosecution relied on Dr. Embry to make the connection between 

cells, of indeterminate origin, found on the tip of the stick by Mr. Huys, to its theory 

that the stick had been forcefully inserted four inches inside the victim, thereby 

obtaining her cervical mucus. The State pursued this theory although Mr. Huys found 

no blood on the stick, and Dr. Embry acknowledged that there was no damage to the 

                                            
40 Tr. R. 388. 

 
41 Id. 
 
42 Tr. R. 400. 

 
43 Tr. R. 388. 

 
44 Tr. R. 390. 
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victim’s vagina or anus. Indeed, although there was never a determination that the 

cells even belonged to the victim, and the victim did not have a cervix, Dr. Embry, 

prompted by the prosecutor, gave the jury the false impression that the victim’s 

cervical mucus was present on the stick.  

It is clear that the most impactful sexual abuse evidence came from Dr. Embry, 

testimony that he now admits is dubious. Accordingly, there is a reasonable likelihood 

that Dr. Embry’s testimony could have affected the jury’s findings on sexual abuse, 

an essential element of Mr. Hunt’s capital murder convictions.  

D. Alabama courts have improperly imposed a diligence 

requirement on the defendant in several prosecutorial 

misconduct cases. 

 

The rejection of Mr. Hunt’s claim — despite the plainly false and inflammatory 

evidence presented by the prosecution at his capital murder trial — is but part of a 

larger pattern in Alabama. Contrary to this Court’s precedents, the Alabama courts 

have repeatedly faulted capital defendants for a lack of diligence in order to dispense 

with their valid prosecutorial misconduct claims. 

 For instance, in Beckworth v. Alabama45 — which the United States District 

Court has described as “nearly identical to the facts in Brady [v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 

83 (1963)]”46 — the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals denied the petitioner’s Brady 

                                            
45 Beckworth v. Alabama, No. CR-07-0051 (Ala. Crim. App. Nov. 14, 2014), attached as Pet. App. E. 

This case was formerly before this Court as No. 15-7451. 

 
46 Beckworth v. Dunn, No. 1:16-CV-225-WKW-WC, 2017 WL 372979, at *7 (M.D. Ala. Jan. 25, 2017). 
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claim, premised on the prosecution’s failure to disclose a co-defendant’s confession to 

the “actual killing.”47 Contrary to this Court’s established three-part test for Brady 

claims,48 the state court held that the Brady claim failed because “Beckworth was 

required to allege in the petition sufficient facts to establish that evidence of Walker’s 

statement to his cell mate was not known to the defense, and he failed to do so.”49 The 

court referred to this new pleading requirement as “the first element of a Brady claim 

. . . .”50 

 Similarly, in Wilson v. Alabama,51 the Court of Criminal Appeals rejected the 

petitioner’s Brady claim, premised on the prosecution’s failure to disclose a co-

defendant’s letter confessing to the crime, and a handwriting expert’s report 

authenticating that letter. Despite the apparent misconduct, the state court 

concluded that the petitioner should have raised his claim at an earlier time: “Even 

if the State failed to disclose the letter and the expert report, Wilson was aware of the 

State’s failure to disclose the evidence prior to trial.”52 Essentially, the indigent 

                                            
47 Brady, 373 U.S. at 84. 

 
48 See Strickler, 527 U.S. at 281-82. 

 
49 Pet. App. E., at 5. 

 
50 Id. 
  
51 Wilson v. Alabama, No. CR-16-0675 (Ala. Crim. App. Mar. 9, 2018), attached as Pet. App. F. This 

case is currently before this Court as No. 18-7527. 

 
52 Pet. App. F, at 9. 
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petitioner was penalized for his attorneys’ failure to seek out the favorable evidence 

that the prosecution had unlawfully withheld. 

 The state court’s analysis, which places the burden on the defendant to correct 

the prosecution’s misconduct, is contrary to this Court’s guidance. As this Court has 

recognized, defendants have no “procedural obligation to assert constitutional error 

on the basis of mere suspicion that some prosecutorial misstep may have occurred.” 

Strickler, 527 U.S. at 286. “A rule thus declaring ‘prosecutor may hide, defendant 

must seek,’ is not tenable in a system constitutionally bound to accord defendants due 

process.” Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 696 (2004). 

 Contrary to the practice in Alabama, numerous courts have convincingly 

rejected defense diligence as a requirement for prosecutorial misconduct claims. For 

instance, in People v. Chenault, 845 N.W.2d 731 (Mich. 2014), the Michigan Supreme 

Court overruled its prior precedent and rejected a diligence requirement. The court 

reasoned that a diligence requirement was not “consistent with or implied by United 

States Supreme Court precedent[,]” and was not “consistent with the Brady doctrine 

generally.” 845 N.W.2d at 737. “The Brady rule is aimed at defining an important 

prosecutorial duty; it is not a tool to ensure competent defense counsel. Adding a 

diligence requirement to this rule undermines the fairness that the rule is designed 

to protect.” Id. at 738. 

In State v. Reinert, 419 P.3d 662, 665 n.1 (Mont. 2018), the Montana Supreme 

Court also “abandoned the diligence factor . . . .” State v. Ilk, 422 P.3d 1219, 1226 
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(Mont. 2018). The court explained that “the diligence factor was inconsistent with 

federal law and unsound public policy.” Id. at 1226. 

  Similarly, in Dennis v. Secretary, Pennsylvania Department of Corrections, 

834 F.3d 263 (3d Cir. 2016), the en banc Third Circuit refused to impose a diligence 

requirement with respect to a habeas petitioner’s Brady claim. The court noted that 

“the duty to disclose under Brady is absolute — it does not depend on defense 

counsel’s actions.” 834 F.3d at 290. “Requiring an undefined quantum of diligence on 

the part of defense counsel . . . would dilute Brady’s equalizing impact on 

prosecutorial advantage by shifting the burden to satisfy the claim onto defense 

counsel.” Id. 

 In light of this Court’s decisions in Strickler and Banks, other federal circuit 

courts have reached the same conclusion. See Amado v. Gonzalez, 758 F.3d 1119, 

1135 (9th Cir. 2014) (“The prosecutor’s obligation under Brady is not excused by a 

defense counsel’s failure to exercise diligence with respect to suppressed evidence.”); 

United States v. Tavera, 719 F.3d 705, 712 (6th Cir. 2013) (“declin[ing] to adopt the 

due diligence rule[,]” although “[p]rior to Banks, some courts, including the Sixth 

Circuit . . . were avoiding the Brady rule and favoring the prosecution with a broad 

defendant-due-diligence rule”). 

 And in a much earlier case, Banks v. Reynolds, 54 F.3d 1508 (10th Cir. 1995), 

the Tenth Circuit also rejected the due diligence argument. The court determined 

that “the fact that defense counsel ‘knew or should have known’ about the [evidence,] 
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is irrelevant to whether the prosecution had an obligation to disclose the 

information.” 54 F.3d at 1517.   

As these cases reflect, the imposition of a diligence requirement on the 

defendant — as the Court of Criminal Appeals ruled in this case —  is simply 

inconsistent with this Court’s clear approach to prosecutorial misconduct. At all 

times, the State had the obligation to correct Dr. Embry’s false testimony. The 

prosecution’s misconduct should not be excused because Mr. Hunt did not expose it 

sooner. 

CONCLUSION 

 Mr. Hunt has spent decades on Alabama’s death row, pursuant to a conviction 

and sentence obtained through use of false evidence. Cf. Wearry v. Cain, 136 S. Ct. 

1002, 1008 (2016) (“The alternative to granting review, after all, is forcing Wearry to 

endure yet more time on Louisiana’s death row in service of a conviction that is 

constitutionally flawed.”). For the forgoing reasons, the petition for a writ of certiorari 

should be granted. 

 

 

      Respectfully submitted, 

 

                     /s/John Anthony Palombi 

       Counsel of Record 
      Keisha Stokes-Hough 

      Anne Borelli  

      Federal Defenders 

      Middle District of Alabama 

      817 S. Court Street 
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MEMORANDUM

CR-17-0406 Walker Circuit Court CC89-76.61

Gregory Hunt v. State of Alabama 

BURKE, Judge.

Gregory Hunt was convicted of two counts of murder made 
capital because it was committed during the course of sexual 
abuse, see § 13A-5-40(a)(8), Ala. Code 1975, and one count of 
murder made capital because it was committed during the course 
of a burglary, see § 13A-5-40(a)(4), Ala. Code 1975. The 
jury, by a vote of 11-1, recommended that Hunt be sentenced to 
death. The trial court accepted the jury's recommendation and 
sentenced Hunt to death. This Court affirmed Hunt's 
convictions and sentence in Hunt v. State, 659 So. 2d 933 
(Ala. Crim. App. 1994), aff'd 659 So. 2d 960 (Ala. 1995), 
cert. denied 516 U.S. 880 (1995). After his convictions 
became final, Hunt filed a timely petition for postconviction



relief pursuant to Rule 32, Ala. R. Crim. P., and subsequently 
amended the petition. The circuit court conducted an 
evidentiary hearing in 2002, after which it denied Hunt's 
petition. This Court affirmed that decision in Hunt v. State, 
940 So. 2d 1041 (Ala. Crim. App. 2005). On November 3, 2016, 
Hunt filed this, his second Rule 32 petition. After a 
response from the State, the circuit court summarily denied 
Hunt's petition. This appeal follows.

In this Court's opinion affirming 
denial of Hunt's first Rule 32 petition, 
following regarding the facts of Hunt's

the circuit court's 
this Court noted the 
case:

"The circuit court's order sentencing Hunt to death
states the following 
surrounding the murder:

concerning the facts

"'In the early morning hours on August 2, 
1988, Ms. [Karen] Lane's bludgeoned body 
was discovered in Ms. [Tina Gilliland] 
Cook's apartment.

"'According to the testimony of Dr. Joseph 
Embry of the Alabama Department of Forensic 
Sciences, Ms. Lane sustained a total of 60 
injuries which included: 20 injuries to the 
head; 12 fractured ribs on the left side 
and 12 fractured ribs on the right side; 
her breast bone was fractured; she 
sustained bruises in her heart; three tears 
to her liver; bruises to the lungs; a 
three-quarter-inch tear to the aorta; a 
bruised pancreas; and, bleeding in the 
muscles to the side of the neck.

"'Next to the body a bar stool was 
recovered with a quantity of blood on it as 
well as hair attached to it. Between her 
legs a broomstick was recovered...

"'According to Larry Huys, Alabama 
Department of Forensic Sciences Serologist, 
who took vaginal, oral and anal swabs as 
well as secretions from the armpit and hair

2



samples,
mouth...

sperm was found in Ms. Lane's

"'John Vaughn, Director of Regional Drug 
Unit, testified that blood was found in the 
apartment in two rooms upstairs. A bloody 
palm print was recovered from the fifth 
step which was successfully matched to the 
defendant. Fingerprints taken from a 
window screen on a broken window located at 
the rear of the apartment included Mr.
Hunt's left, ring, right palm and right 
index finger prints.'

"(C.R. 1045.) A neighbor of Ms. Cook's, Mary 
Turner, testified that around the time of the murder 
she heard a noise like glass breaking and looked out 
of her window and saw Hunt entering Ms. Cook's 
apartment. Although we did not detail the facts 
surrounding the murder in our opinion on direct 
appeal we noted: 'Our review of the record convinces 
us that the evidence against the appellant was, in 
fact, overwhelming.' Hunt, 659 So. 2d at 941."

Hunt v. State, 940 So. 2d 1041, 1048-49 (Ala. Crim. App.
2005)(footnote omitted).

Hunt raised two issues in his petition. First, he 
claimed that newly-discovered evidence existed requiring that 
he be granted a new trial. Second, he argued that his death 
sentence was unconstitutional under Hurst v. Florida, 577 U.S.
____, 136 S.Ct. 616, 193 L.Ed.2d 504 (2016). The State filed
an answer and motion to dismiss in which it alleged that 
Hunt's claims were meritless and procedurally barred for 
various reasons. The trial court agreed, and adopted a 
proposed order that was submitted by the State. On appeal, 
Hunt argues that the trial court's adoption of the State's 
proposed order was error because, he says, it was not an 
independent and impartial decision. Hunt also argues that the 
trial court erred by dismissing his petition without 
conducting an evidentiary hearing.

Standard of Review
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Generally, ” [t]he 
conviction proceeding 
discretion when he denied the

standard of review on appeal in a post 
is whether the trial judge abused his 

petition.” Elliott v. State,
601 So. 2d 1118, 1119 (Ala. Crim. App. 1992).
abuses his discretion only when his decision is 
erroneous conclusion of law or where the record 
evidence on which he rationally could have 
decision.'” Hodges v. State, 926 So. 2d 1060, 
Crim. App. 2005), quoting State v. Jude, 686 So. 
(Ala. Crim. App. 1996)(internal citations omitted)

”'A judge 
based on an 
contains no 
based his 
1072 (Ala. 
2d 528, 530 

However,
”when the facts are undisputed and an appellate court is 
presented with pure questions of law, that court's review in 
a Rule 32 proceeding is de novo.” Ex parte White, 792 So. 2d 
1097, 1098 (Ala. 2001) . In either instance, this Court may 
affirm the judgment of the circuit court for any reason, even 
if not for the reason stated by the circuit court.1 See Reed 
v. State, 748 So. 2d 231 (Ala. Crim. App. 1999) (”If the 
circuit court is correct for any reason, even though it may 
not be the stated reason, we will not reverse its denial of 
the petition.”). Additionally, in Ex parte Hinton, 172 So. 3d 
348, 353 (Ala. 2012), the Alabama Supreme Court held that, 
when a circuit court's decision in a Rule 32 petition is based 
solely on the ”'cold trial record,'” it is ”in no better 
position than ... an appellate court to make the determination 
it made.” Therefore, in that situation, the reviewing court 
should apply a de novo standard of review. Id. The judge who 
presided over Hunt's Rule 32 proceedings was not the judge who 
presided over Hunt's trial and, because the petition was 
summarily dismissed, no evidentiary hearing was held. 
Accordingly, we review Hunt's issues de novo.

We also note that, ”'even though this petition challenges 
a capital conviction and a death sentence, there is no 
plain-error review on an appeal from the denial of a Rule 32 
petition.'” Boyd v. State, 913 So. 2d 1113, 1122 (Ala. Crim. 
App. 2003), quoting Dobyne v. State, 805 So. 2d 733, 740 (Ala. 
Crim. App. 2000). ” 'In addition, ” [t]he procedural bars of 
Rule 32 apply with equal force to all cases, including those 
in which the death penalty has been imposed.”'” Burgess v. 
State, 962 So. 2d 272, 277 (Ala. Crim. App. 2005), quoting 1

1This general rule is subject to exceptions not applicable 
here. See, e.g., Ex parte Clemons, 55 So. 3d 348 (Ala. 2007).
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Brownlee v. State, 666 So. 2d 91, 93 (Ala. Crim. App. 1995), 
quoting in turn State v. Tarver, 629 So. 2d 14, 19 (Ala. Crim. 
App. 1993).

Finally, it is undisputed that the present petition is 
successive. Rule 32.2(b), Ala. R. Crim. P., provides:

"If a petitioner has previously filed a petition 
that challenges any judgment, all subsequent 
petitions by that petitioner 
judgment arising out of that 
guilty-plea proceeding shall 
successive petitions under this

challenging any 
same trial or 

be treated as 
rule. The court

shall not grant relief on a successive petition on 
the same or similar grounds on behalf of the same 
petitioner. A successive petition on different 
grounds shall be denied unless (1) the petitioner is 
entitled to relief on the ground that the court was 
without jurisdiction to render a judgment or to 
impose sentence or (2) the petitioner shows both 
that good cause exists why the new ground or grounds 
were not known or could not have been ascertained 
through reasonable diligence when the first petition 
was heard, and that failure to entertain the 
petition will result in a miscarriage of justice.”

With these 
arguments.

principles in mind, we will address Hunt's I

I

In his petition, Hunt first claimed that he was denied a 
fair trial because, he said, the prosecution presented false 
and misleading testimony in violation of Brady v. Maryland, 
373 U.S. 83 (1963), Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 
(1972), and Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959). Hunt 
points to testimony regarding a stick that was discovered near 
the victim's vagina that was found to have biological evidence 
on the end of it. At trial, the State contended that Hunt 
inserted the stick into the victim's vagina at or near the 
time of her death. Hunt quoted portions of the testimony of 
Dr. Joseph Embry, a pathologist who testified regarding the 
results of the autopsy he performed on the victim, in which 
Dr. Embry testified about the anatomy of a vagina. Hunt
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quoted the following exchanges between the prosecutor and Dr, 
Embry:

"Q. You said mucus is secreted by the outer part of 
the cervix; is that right?

"A. By the cervix which is the lower part of the 
uterus.

"Q. Okay, For lay persons how far, if any, would 
that be inside the vagina?

"A. At the top of the vagina.

"Q. On the outside or inside?

"A. Inside.

"Q. On the inside. How far on the inside, if you 
have a judgment?

"A. About four inches.

"Q. So, inside the vagina you have to go four inches 
to get where that mucus is; is that what you're 
telling me, doctor?

"A. To get to where it is produced, yes, sir.

"R. 264-65."

"Q. The broom stick in the photograph that I showed 
you, doctor, is it laying by the deceased's nose?

"A. No, sir.

"Q, Is it laying in close promixity [sic] to her 
vagina?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. Is it still your opinion that you would have to

6



go approximately four inches inside the 
before you could get the mucus?

vagina

”A. My opinion was that the mucus produced by the 
cervix which is about four inches into the vagina. 
That was the line of questioning.

”R. 267.”

”Q. So, we have to have that broom stick four inches 
inside of the deceased to get the vagina mucus on 
it?

”A. To get the cervical mucus, yes, sir.

”R. 268.”

According to Hunt, this testimony was false and 
misleading because, he said, the victim's uterus had been 
surgically removed at some point prior to her murder and, 
therefore, she did not have a cervix. Hunt attached an 
affidavit from Dr. Embry, dated April 27, 2016, in which Dr. 
Embry stated in part:

”2. Prior to my retirement, I was employed as a 
State Medical Examiner with the Alabama Department 
of Forensic Sciences. In August 1988, I performed 
an autopsy on Karen Lane's body. My autopsy report 
noted that the vagina was unremarkable, and that the 
uterus, fallopian tubes, and right ovary had been 
previously removed.

”3. On June 13, 1990, I testified at Gregory Hunt's 
capital murder trial. My testimony primarily 
concerned the physical examination performed on the 
victim's body. However, I was asked a number of 
questions about the position of the cervix and 
cervical mucus. In answering these questions, I 
provided general anatomical information, but did not 
intend to refer to Karen Lane specifically.

”4. As noted in my autopsy report, Karen Lane's 
uterus had been removed. The cervix is part of the 
uterus. Accordingly, the implication that her
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cervical mucus was present on a broomstick, as a 
result of it having been inserted in her vagina, is 
dubious.”

(C. 55-56.)

According to Hunt, Dr. Embry's affidavit constitutes 
newly-discovered evidence pursuant to Rule 32.1(e), Ala. R. 
Crim. P. Hunt alleged that the information in Dr. Embry's 
affidavit ”was not known to Mr. Hunt or his counsel at the 
time of trial or sentencing, or in time to be included in a 
previous collateral proceeding.” (C. 19.) However, Hunt's 
claim was not sufficiently pleaded.

Rule 32.3, Ala. R. Crim. P., provides that ” [t]he 
petitioner shall have the burden of pleading and proving by a 
preponderance of the evidence the facts necessary to entitle 
the petitioner to relief.” Further, Rule 32.6(b), Ala. R. 
Crim. P., provides that ” [e]ach claim in the petition must 
contain a clear and specific statement of the grounds upon 
which relief is sought, including full disclosure of the 
factual basis of those grounds. A bare allegation that a 
constitutional right has been violated and mere conclusions of 
law shall not be sufficient to warrant any further 
proceedings.”

Rule 32.1(e), Ala. 
evidence as follows:

R. Crim. P., defines newly discovered

” (1) The facts relied upon were not known by 
petitioner or petitioner's counsel at the time of 
trial or sentencing or in time to file a post-trial 
motion pursuant to Rule 24, or in time to be 
included in any previous collateral proceeding and 
could not have been discovered by any of those times 
through the exercise of reasonable diligence;

” (2) The facts are not merely cumulative to 
other facts that were known;

” (3) The facts 
impeachment evidence;

do not merely amount to

” (4) If the facts had been known at the time of
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trial or of sentencing, the result probably would 
have been different; and

” (5) The facts establish that petitioner is 
innocent of the crime for which petitioner was 
convicted or should not have received the sentence 
the petitioner received.”

Although Hunt alleged that neither he nor his counsel 
were aware of the information contained in Dr. Embry's 
affidavit in time to include this claim in any prior 
proceeding, he failed to allege that the information ”could 
not have been discovered by any of those times through the 
exercise of reasonable diligence.” Rule 32.1(e)(1), Ala. R. 
Crim. P. Nothing in Hunt's petition indicates that he was 
somehow unable to obtain an affidavit from Dr. Embry's prior 
to 2016. In fact, Hunt admits in his petition that the 
defense was provided a copy of Dr. Embry's autopsy report 
prior to trial, that the report was admitted into evidence, 
and that the report indicated that the victim did not have a 
cervix. Thus, Hunt would have been aware of the implications 
of Dr. Embry's testimony in plenty of time to include this 
claim at trial, on direct appeal, or in his first Rule 32 
petition. Nevertheless, Hunt failed to plead any facts 
indicating that he was unable to obtain the information 
contained in Dr. Embry's affidavit until 2016. Accordingly, 
he failed to sufficiently plead all of the requirements of 
Rule 32.1(e), Ala. R. Crim. P. The circuit court noted this 
deficiency in its order dismissing Hunt's petition. (C. 153.)

Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P., provides that a circuit 
court may summarily dismiss a petition if ”the court 
determines that the petition is not sufficiently specific, or 
is precluded, or fails to state a claim, or that no material 
issue of fact or law exists which would entitle the petitioner 
to relief under this rule and that no purpose would be served 
by any further proceedings ....” Because this claim was 
insufficiently pleaded, the circuit court was correct to 
summarily dismiss it.

II.

Next, Hunt claimed that he was entitled to relief under 
Hurst v. Florida, 577 U.S. ----, 136 S.Ct. 616, 193 L.Ed.2d
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504 (2016), because, he said, Alabama's death penalty system
suffers from the same constitutional infirmities that led the 
United States Supreme Court to invalidate Florida's death 
penalty scheme. However, this Court recently held that Hurst 
does not apply to cases on collateral review. In Reeves v.
State, [Ms. CR-13-1504, June 10, 2016] ___ So. 3d ____ (Ala.
Crim. App. 2016), this Court stated:

"The United States Supreme Court's opinion in Hurst
[v. Florida, 577 U.S. ----, 136 S.Ct. 616 (2016),]
was based solely on its previous opinion in Ring_^v. 
Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002)], an opinion the United 
States Supreme Court held did not apply 
retroactively on collateral review to cases that 
were already final when the decision was announced.
See Schriro v. Summerlin, 542 U.S. 348, 124 S.Ct.
2519, 159 L.Ed.2d 442 (2004). Because Ring does not 
apply retroactively on collateral review, it follows 
that Hurst also does not apply retroactively on 
collateral review. Rather, Hurst applies only to 
cases not yet final when that opinion was released,
such as Johnson [v. Alabama, ---U.S. ----- , 136
S.Ct. 1837, 194 L.Ed.2d 828 (2016)], a case that was 
still on direct appeal (specifically, pending 
certiorari review in the United States Supreme 
Court) when Hurst was released. Reeves's case, 
however, was final in 2001, 15 years before the
opinion in Hurst was released. Therefore, Hurst is 
not applicable here."

So 3d
See

at
Hunt v.1995. ___ ______

App. 2005)("Hunt's case 
issued the certificate

Hunt's direct appeal became final in 
State, 940 So. 2d 1041, 1057 (Ala. Crim.

was final in May 1995, when this Court 
of judgment.") Thus, the holding in 

Hurst would have no application to Hunt's case. See Reeves v. 
State.

Because Hurst did not apply to Hunt's case, his argument 
to the contrary was meritless on its face. The circuit court 
came to the same conclusion in its order. (C. 164.)
Accordingly, summary dismissal was proper. See Rule 32.7(d), 
Ala. R. Crim. P.

III.
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Finally2, Hunt argues that the trial court's adoption of 
the State's "proposed order almost word for word” was improper 
because, he says, the order was not an independent and 
impartial decision. (Hunt's brief, at 10.) Citing, among

2010), Huntother cases, Ex parte Ingram, 51 So. 3d 1119 (Ala
look with disfavor on a trial 
of a party's proposed order. 
court's order contained the same 
the State's proposed order, was 

adversarial in tone, and contained erroneous factual findings. 
In Mashburn v. State, 148 So. 3d 1094, 1110-12 (Ala. Crim.
App.

notes that appellate courts 
court's wholesale adoption 
According to Hunt, the trial 
formatting errors present in

2013), this Court held:

"'Alabama courts have consistently held that even 
when a trial court adopts verbatim a party's 
proposed order, the findings of fact and conclusions 
of law are those of the trial court and they may be 
reversed only if they are clearly erroneous.' 
McGahee v. State, 885 So. 2d 191, 229-30 (Ala. Crim. 
App. 2003). 'While the practice of adopting the 
state's proposed findings and conclusions is subject 
to criticism, the general rule is that even when the 
court adopts proposed findings verbatim, the 
findings are those of the court and may be reversed 
only if clearly erroneous.' Bell v. State, 593 So. 
2d 123, 126 (Ala. Crim. App. 1991). '[T]he general 
rule is that, where a trial court does in fact adopt 
the proposed order as its own, deference is owed to 
that order in the same measure as any other order of 
the trial court.' Ex parte Ingram, 51 So. 3d at 
1122.

"In Ex parte Ingram, the circuit court adopted 
verbatim the State's proposed order summarily 
dismissing Ingram's Rule 32 petition. In the order, 
the court stated that it had considered '"the events 
within the personal knowledge of the Court"' and 
that it had '"presided over Ingram's capital murder 
trial and personally observed the performance of 
both lawyers throughout Ingram's trial and

2This
appeal.

was the first issue raised in Hunt's brief on
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sentencing. Ex parte Ingram, 51 So. 3d at 1123 
(citation and emphasis omitted). However, the judge 
who had summarily dismissed the petition had not, in 
fact, presided over Ingram's trial and had no 
personal knowledge of the trial. The Alabama 
Supreme Court described these errors in the court's 
adopted order as 'the most material and obvious of 
errors,' 51 So. 3d at 1123, and 'patently
erroneous,' 51 So. 3d at 1125, and concluded that 
the errors 'undermine[d] any confidence that the 
trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of 
law [we]re the product of the 
independent judgment.' 51 So. 2d 
Court also cautioned that 'appellate 
careful to evaluate a claim that a 
drafted by the prevailing party and 
trial court verbatim does not 
independent judgment and impartial

trial judge's 
at 1125. The 
courts must be 
prepared order 
adopted by the 
reflect the 
findings and

conclusions 
112 4.”

of the trial court. 51 So. 3d at

"In Ex parte 
So. 3d

Scott, [[Ms. 1091275, March 28,
___ ____ (Ala. 2011),] the circuit
adopted verbatim as its order the State's 
Scott's 
stated:

2011] 
court 

answer to
Rule 32 petition. The Alabama Supreme Court

"'[A]n answer, by its very nature, is 
adversarial and sets forth one party's 
position in the litigation. It makes no 
claim of being an impartial consideration 
of the facts and law; rather it is a work 
of advocacy that exhorts one party's 
perception of the law as it pertains to the 
relevant facts.'

"___So. 3d a t ______.
'[t]he trial court's 
State's answer to

The Court then held that 
verbatim adoption of the 

Scott's Rule 32 petition as its
order, by its nature, violates this Court's holding 
in Ex parte Ingram' that the findings and 
conclusions in a court's order must be those of the
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court itself. So. 3d at

"Mashburn argues that his case is similar to Ex 
parte Scott because, he says, the State's proposed 
order adopted by the circuit court tracks the 
language of the State's answer and motion to dismiss 
and, thus, 'is filled with language adversarial in 
nature.'"

This Court has reviewed the State's proposed order along
with the circuit court's order While it is clear that the
circuit court adopted a good portion of the State's proposed 
order as its own, we find that the order adequately reflects 
the court's independent judgment and is not clearly erroneous. 
The findings that necessitated summary dismissal, i.e., that 
Hunt failed to adequately plead his newly-discovered-evidence 
claim and that Hurst was not retroactive, were clearly stated 
in the order and were not adversarial in tone. See (C. 153, 
164.) Additionally, the State submitted its proposed order on 
October 27, 2017, and the circuit court did not enter its
order until December 12, 2017. Thus, several weeks elapsed 
which gave the circuit court ample time to consider all of the 
relevant pleadings before entering its order. Additionally, 
it gave Hunt time to object to the State's proposed order or 
to submit a proposed order of his own. However, he did not do 
so. Based on the foregoing, this Court does not find that the 
circuit court's partial adoption of the State's proposed order 
demonstrates that it did not fully consider Hunt's claims or 
that the order was not the product of the court's independent 
judgment.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the circuit 
court is affirmed.

AFFIRMED.

Windom, P.J., and Welch, Kellum, and Joiner, JJ., concur.
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GREGORY HUNT, *
*

Petitioner, *

V. *
*

STATE OF ALABAMA, *
*

Respondent. *

AFFIDAVIT OF JOSEPH H. EMBRY

s~, icqo
1. My name is Dr. Joseph H. Embry. I was born ___________, in ~ ~( County,

F ttnncs≤.a
Alabama. I presently reside in Birmingham, Alabama.

2. Prior to my retirement, I was employed as a State Medical Examiner with the

Alabama Department ofForensic Sciences. In August 1988,1 performed an autopsy on Karen Lane’s

body. My autopsy report noted that the vagina was unremarkable, and that the uterus, fallopian tubes,

and right ovary had been previously removed.

3. On June 13, 1990, I testified at Gregory Hunt’s capital murder trial. My testimony

primarily concerned the physical examination performed on the victim’s body. However, I was asked

a number of questions about the position of the cervix and cervical mucus. In answering these

questions, I provided general anatomical information, but did not intend to refer to Karen Lane

specifically.

4. As noted in my autopsy report, Karen Lane’s uterus had been removed. The cervix

is part of the uterus. Accordingly, the implication that her cervical mucus was present on a

pv~



broomstick, as a result of it havjng been inserted in her vagina, is dubious.
a~’ rO~~

5. I eview tarry Huys’s serological examination report prior to my trial

testimony, but I have reviewed the document today. This report indicates that mucus was present on

the broomstick, but does not specify cervical mucus.

I hereby declare, under penalty of perjury, that the foregoing is true and correct to the best
of my knowledge and belief

Date: _____________ _______________

Subscribed to and sworn before me, a Notary Public in the State of ~
Countyof: 4A’~ _,. —

Signature:
Date my commission expires: ~Pi~W’ 7
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Notice: This unpublished memorandum should not be cited as precedent.  See Rule 54, Ala.R.App.P.  Rule 54(d),

states, in part, that this memorandum "shall have no precedential value and shall not be cited in arguments or

briefs and shall not be used by any court within this state, except for the purpose of establishing the application

of the doctrine of law of the case, res judicata, collateral estoppel, double jeopardy, or procedural bar."

Court of Criminal Appeals
State of Alabama

Judicial Building, 300 Dexter Avenue
P. O. Box 301555

Montgomery, AL 36130-1555

MARY BECKER WINDOM D. Scott Mitchell

Presiding Judge Clerk

SAMUEL HENRY WELCH Gerri Robinson

J. ELIZABETH KELLUM Assistant  Clerk

LILES C.  BURKE (334) 229-0751

J.  MICHAEL JOINER Fax (334) 229-0521

Judges

MEMORANDUM

CR-07-0051 Houston Circuit Court CC-00-1343.60

Rex Allen Beckworth v. State of Alabama

On Remand from the Alabama Supreme Court

WELCH, Judge.

In 2002 Rex Allen Beckworth was convicted of murder made
capital because it was committed during the course of a
burglary, a violation of § 13A–5–40(a)(4), Ala. Code 1975, for
his participation in the beating and shooting death of
87–year–old Bessie Lee Thweatt while she was in her home.  On
direct appeal, this Court affirmed Beckworth's conviction and
death sentence.  Beckworth v. State, 946 So. 2d 490 (Ala.
Crim. App. 2005).  The Alabama Supreme Court denied certiorari
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review, 946 So. 2d 490 (Ala. 2006); the United States Supreme
Court also denied certiorari review, 549 U.S. 1120, 127
(2007).  A certificate of judgment was issued on June 23,
2006.  On June 22, 2007, Beckworth filed a petition pursuant
to Rule 32, Ala. R. Crim. P., seeking postconviction relief.
The State of Alabama filed its answer to Beckworth's petition,
and the circuit court entered an order summarily dismissing
the petition.  Beckworth appealed from that order, and this
Court affirmed the judgment except as to the claims related to
Juror A.L., and the cause was remanded for further proceedings
as to those claims.  Beckworth v. State, [Ms. CR-07-0051, May
1, 2009] ___ So. 3d ___ (Ala. Crim. App. 2009).  On remand,
the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing as to those
claims and then entered an order denying the claims.  This
Court affirmed that judgment by memorandum opinion.  Beckworth
v. State, (No. CR-07-0051), ___ So. 3d ___ (Ala. Crim. App.
2010)(table).  

Beckworth filed a petition for a writ of certiorari, and
the Alabama Supreme Court granted certiorari review as to one
issue -- whether this Court had properly affirmed the circuit
court's summary dismissal of Beckworth's Brady v. Maryland,
373 U.S. 83 (1963), claim regarding his co-defendant's
statement on the ground that Beckworth had failed to state a
claim because he did not plead any facts that would negate the
grounds of preclusion set out in Rule 32(a)(3) and (5), Ala.
R. Crim. P.  The Supreme Court reversed this Court's judgment
as to that issue and stated that, because the claim was
asserted as a constitutional violation, it was cognizable
under Rule 32.1(a), Ala. R. Crim. P., and not as a claim for
relief based on newly-discovered material facts under Rule
32.1(e), Ala. R. Crim. P., which has more pleading
requirements.  Therefore, the Supreme Court held, "Beckworth's
Rule 32 petition should not have been dismissed on the ground
that his claim for relief under Rule 32.1(a) lacked
allegations negating the preclusive bars of Rule 32.2(a)(3)
and (5)."  Ex parte Beckworth, [Ms. 1091780, July 3, 2013] ___
So. 3d ___ (Ala. 2013).  The Supreme Court remanded the case
to this Court for further proceedings consistent with its
opinion.  The case is now before us for reconsideration of
Beckworth's Brady claim in light of the Supreme Court's
holding.

The Alabama Supreme Court's holding in Ex parte Beckworth
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was limited.  The Supreme Court did not hold that the circuit
court's summary dismissal of the Brady claim was improper,
only that this Court's affirmance of that judgment based on
the ground that Beckworth had failed to plead facts regarding
the preclusive bars was improper.  The Supreme Court stated:

   "The fact that the elements of a claim of 'newly
discovered material facts' as contemplated by Rule
32.1(e) need not be proved in order to entitle the
petitioner to relief under Rule 32.1(a) -- and,
accordingly, need not be pleaded in order to avoid
a summary dismissal for failure to state a claim
based on Rule 32.1(a) -- does not mean that the
preclusive bars of Rules 32.2(a)(3) and (5) might
not be applicable.  As this Court stated in Ex parte
Pierce, 851 So. 2d 606, 614 (Ala. 2000), '[a]lthough
Rule 32.1(e) does not preclude Pierce's claim [under
Rule 32.1(a) ], Rule 32.2(a)(3) and (5) would
preclude Pierce's claim if it could have been raised
at trial or on appeal.'  The question for purposes
of the present case, however, is simply who has the
burden of pleading the preclusive bars of Rule
32.2(a)(3) and (5)."

Id. at ___.  (Emphasis added.)

Beckworth alleged that his co-defendant, James Walker,
made a statement to his cell mate admitting that he, not
Beckworth, had shot Thweatt, and that the State had failed to
disclose this evidence.  Specifically, Beckworth alleged the
following in his petition:

"225.  The state in this case also withheld the
confession of a co-defendant. As in Brady v.
Maryland, this demands a new sentencing trial.  The
facts of this case also mandate a new trial on the
issue of guilt or innocence.

"226.  ....  [T]he prosecution withheld a statement
made by co-defendant James Walker to Tim Byrd, a
cell mate, that he had committed the murder.

"227.  Byrd testified at Walker's trial that he was
Walker's cell mate in the Houston County Jail after
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Walker had been arrested and charged with murder.
Byrd and Walker had a conversation around June of
2000 in which Walker said that he pulled the
trigger.  Walker said that it was getting to him.
He was having bad dreams and crying.  Walker also
told Byrd that Mr. Beckworth went with him to commit
the burglary.  Byrd made a statement to Investigator
Eric Sewell in June 2000 after this conversation.

"228.  The prosecution found the statement highly
probative.  The same District Attorney who withheld
the evidence during Mr. Beckworth's trial called Mr.
Byrd to testify at the later trial of James
Walker....

"229.  In Mr. Beckworth's case, Byrd's testimony is
also material to guilt.  Unlike Brady, who 'took the
stand and admitted his participation in the crime'
(378 [373] U.S. at 84), Mr. Beckworth maintained
that the was not a participant in the robbery.
There was no physical evidence linking Mr. Beckworth
to the scene of the crime.  Mr. Beckworth's
incriminating statement was susceptible to challenge
as involuntary and unreliable...."

(C. 70-72.)

The State filed a response to Beckworth's Rule 32
petition and asserted that this claim was procedurally barred
by Rule 32.2(a)(3) and (5) because it could have been, but was
not, raised at trial or on appeal.  (C. 143-44.)  The State
also asserted that the claim was insufficiently pleaded.

"To establish a Brady violation, [the defendant] must
demonstrate (1) that the prosecution suppressed evidence; (2)
that that evidence was favorable to him or exculpatory; and
(3) that the evidence was material."  Ex parte Kennedy, 472
So. 2d 1106, 1110 (Ala. 1985).  "'Furthermore, the rule of
Brady applies only in situations which involve "discovery
after trial of information which had been known to the
prosecution but unknown to the defense."  United States v.
Agurs, 427 U.S., at 103, 96 S. Ct., at 2397.'  Gardner v.
State, 530 So. 2d 250, 256 (Ala. Cr. App. 1987), affirmed, Ex
parte Weaver, 530 So. 2d 258 (Ala. 1988).  (Emphasis in
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original.)"  Bates v. State, 549 So. 2d 601, 609 (Ala. Crim.
App. 1989).  See also Bryant v. State, [CR-08-0405, Sept. 5,
2014] ___ So. 3d ___ (Ala. Crim. App. 2014).  

Thus, Beckworth was required to allege in the petition
sufficient facts to establish that evidence of Walker's
statement to his cell mate was not known to the defense, and
he failed to do so.  Thus, having failed to allege the first
element of a Brady claim, Beckworth failed to meet the
specificity requirement of Rule 32.6(b), Ala. R. Crim. P., and
the circuit court was correct to summarily dismiss that claim.
See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

Therefore, we again conclude that summary dismissal of
this Brady claim -- that the State withheld evidence of
Walker's statement to his cell mate -- was proper.  The
circuit court's summary dismissal of this claim is affirmed.

AFFIRMED.

Windom, P.J., and Kellum, Burke, and Joiner, JJ., concur.
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MEMORANDUM

CR-16-0675 Houston Circuit Court CC-04-1120.60;
CC-04-1121.60

David Phillip Wilson v. State of Alabama 

WINDOM, Presiding Judge.

David Phillip Wilson appeals the dismissal of his 
petition for postconviction relief filed pursuant to Rule 32, 
Ala. R. Crim. P., in which he attacked his January 2008 
convictions for capital murder. See §§ 13A-5-40(a)(2) and 
13A-5-40(a)(4), Ala. Code 1975. By a vote of 10-2, the jury 
recommended that Wilson be sentenced to death. The trial 
court accepted the jury's recommendation and sentenced Wilson 
to death.
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On November 5, 2010, this Court remanded the case to the 
trial court with instructions for that court to hold a hearing 
during which it was to require the State to provide its 
reasons for striking African-American veniremembers and to 
provide Wilson with an opportunity to offer evidence showing 
that the State's reasons were merely a sham or pretext. See 
Wilson v. State, 142 So. 3d 732, 747-48 (Ala. Crim. App. 
2010). See also Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). The 
trial court issued an order on March 15, 2011, finding that 
the State had articulated clear, specific, and legitimate 
reasons for each peremptory strike of an African-American 
veniremember, and that Wilson had failed to prove that the 
State's reasons were merely a sham or pretext. On March 23, 
2012, this Court affirmed Wilson's convictions and sentence of 
death. See Wilson v. State, 142 So. 3d 732 (Ala. Crim. App. 
2012) (opinion on return to remand). The certificate of 
judgment was issued on September 20, 2013. On May 19, 2014, 
the Supreme Court of the United States denied his petition for 
writ of certiorari. See Wilson v. Alabama, 134 S. Ct. 2290 
(2014).

On September 19, 2014, Wilson, through counsel, filed 
this, his first, Rule 32 petition, in which he raised numerous 
claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. On 
November 3, 2014, the State filed a motion to dismiss in which 
it argued Wilson's claims were insufficiently pleaded under 
Rules 32.3 and 32.6(b), Ala. R. Crim. P., or without merit. 
On December 11, 2015, Wilson filed an amended petition in 
which he alleged that the State had withheld evidence 
favorable to the defense, in violation of Brady v. Maryland, 
373 U.S. 83 (1963), and that he had received ineffective 
assistance of trial and appellate counsel. On February 24,
2016, the State filed an amended motion to dismiss, and on 
June 16, 2016, Wilson filed a response. On August 17, 2016, 
the State filed a second amended motion to dismiss in order to 
correct an error in its previous filing, and Wilson's amended 
response was filed on September 7, 2016. That same day, 
Wilson filed an amendment to his previous petition, asserting 
that Alabama's death-penalty sentencing scheme is 
unconstitutional, see Hurst v. Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016), 
and the State filed a motion to dismiss Wilson's amendment on 
October 6, 2016. On February 24, 2017, the circuit court 
issued an order dismissing Wilson's petition. On March 24,
2017, Wilson filed a motion to reconsider.
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In this Court's opinion on direct appeal, it set out the 
following facts surrounding Wilson's convictions:

"After [Dewey] Walker, a 64-year-old man 
suffering from cancer, failed to show up for work 
for several consecutive days in April 2004, his 
supervisor, Jimmy Walker, went to his house to check 
on him. After two trips to check on Walker were 
unsuccessful, Jimmy Walker spoke with Walker's 
neighbor, and the neighbor telephoned the police.
On April 13, Officer Lynn Watkins and Officer Rhett 
Davis of the Dothan Police Department responded to 
the call and conducted a 'welfare check' at Walker's 
house.

"During the welfare check, Officer Watkins 
walked around to the back of the house. The back of 
the house had two doors, a wooden door and a 
sliding-glass door. Officer Watkins noticed that 
the door knob to the wooden door was missing. She 
entered through that doorway and found herself in a 
storage area, separated from the primary residence 
by a panel of drywall. The wall had a hole in it 
leading to a bedroom. It appeared to Officer Watkins 
that someone had created the hole from the outside 
because there was broken drywall on the bedroom 
floor. Officer Watkins entered the bedroom through 
the hole in the drywall. She testified at trial 
that, in her opinion, the hole was large enough for 
Wilson. Officer Watkins and Officer Davis conducted 
a search of Walker's residence. Walker's body was 
found in the kitchen with a large amount of dried 
blood surrounding his head.

"Investigator Tony Luker of the Dothan Police 
Department was assigned to investigate Walker's 
death. In addition to the blood found near Walker's 
body, Investigator Luker discovered blood droplets 
throughout the house. He also discovered that the 
doors to multiple bedrooms, which apparently had 
been locked, were pried open and that there were 
holes in the walls of several rooms. Investigator 
Luker testified that it appeared as though someone 
had been searching for something hidden in the
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walls.

"In the kitchen, Investigator Luker recovered an 
extension cord and a computer-mouse with the 
attached cord snapped into two pieces, which, based 
on the ligature marks on Walker's neck and the dried 
blood on the cords, appeared to have been used to 
strangle Walker. Investigator Luker also found a 
screwdriver and a portion of the computer-mouse cord 
in the refrigerator.

"Investigator Luker also noticed that Walker's 
custom van, replete with stereo equipment estimated 
to be worth $20,000, was missing. A search for the 
van and the stereo equipment led investigators to 
Matthew Marsh. Investigator Luker interviewed 
Marsh, and then interviewed Catherine Corley and 
Michael Jackson. These interviews led Investigator 
Luker to Wilson.

"Officers arrived at Wilson's home in the early 
morning hours of April 14. Wilson voluntarily went 
with the officers to the Dothan Police Department. 
After waiving his Miranda [v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 
(1966)] rights, Wilson gave a statement to 
Investigator Luker and Sergeant Mike Etress.

"Wilson told the officers that he went to 
Walker's house around 3 p.m. on April 6. Walker was 
home, and Wilson spoke to him about Walker's son 
Chris. Wilson left, but came back a few hours 
later. Wilson said that the front door was 
partially open when he returned, so he walked into 
the house. Walker was not home when Wilson arrived. 
While Wilson was inside Walker's house, he received 
a telephone call from Marsh, asking him to steal the 
keys to Walker's van. Wilson explained to the 
officers that he, Marsh, Jackson, and Corley had 
previously discussed 'hitting Mr. Walker and 
knocking him out and taking the keys.' (C. 517.) 
Wilson took the keys and went to Marsh's house.

"According to Wilson, he returned to Walker's 
house the next evening to steal a laptop computer.
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He went to the back of the house and entered the 
storage area. Wilson stated that there was a small 
crack in the wall and that he made it large enough 
to enter the main house. Wilson took a metal 
baseball bat with him because, according to him, he 
was scared of Walker's dog. Once inside, he again 
received a telephone call from Marsh asking him to 
search for items in addition to the laptop that 
would be worth stealing. Wilson used a screwdriver 
to pry open several doors in the house.

"After approximately 20 minutes, Walker returned 
home and went to the kitchen. Wilson assumed that 
Walker heard him because he picked up a knife. 
Wilson said that he approached Walker from behind 
with the baseball bat and attempted to disarm Walker 
by striking him on his right shoulder. According to 
Wilson, he missed and accidentally struck Walker in 
the back of his head. Walker fell into the wall, 
cutting his head, but stood back up. Wilson grabbed 
a nearby computer-mouse cord and wrapped it around 
Walker's neck in an attempt to make Walker drop the 
knife. The computer-mouse cord snapped, so Wilson 
grabbed a nearby extension cord. Wilson stated that 
he wrapped the extension cord around Walker's neck 
and held it until Walker passed out. He estimated 
that he choked Walker for six minutes. Wilson told 
the officers that he threw the extension cord down 
in front of the refrigerator and placed the 
computer-mouse cord inside the refrigerator. Wilson 
was scared, so he left the house, taking with him 
Walker's laptop and one of Walker's baseball hats. 
Wilson further indicated that he did not telephone 
an ambulance for Walker because he was in a state of 
panic. According to Wilson, Walker was still 
breathing when he left.

"Wilson went back to Marsh's house where he, 
Marsh, and Corley unsuccessfully attempted to login 
to Walker's password-protected laptop. The three 
individuals then went back to Walker's house in 
order to steal the van. During their first attempt 
to take the van, however, the alarm on the van went 
off, so they left.
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"Wilson made similar attempts to steal Walker's 
van on Thursday and Friday, but was foiled both 
times by the alarm on the van. Wilson spoke with 
Corley, who was familiar with alarm systems, about 
disabling the alarm in Walker's van. Wilson 
returned to the van on Sunday morning. He lifted 
the hood of the van to access the alarm system, and 
the alarm again sounded. Wilson left and drove 
around for about 20 minutes before returning. When 
he returned, he was able to disable the alarm system 
by cutting two wires. Wilson drove to Marsh's 
house, picked up Marsh, and drove back to Walker's 
house. Wilson drove the van to Marsh's house. At 
Marsh's house, they removed the stereo equipment 
from the van and split it among Wilson, Marsh, 
Jackson, and Corley. Then they hid the van on 
Marsh's property located outside the city limits of 
Dothan.

"Dr. Kathleen Enstice, who at the time of 
Walker's death was a forensic pathologist with the 
Alabama Department of Forensic Sciences, performed 
Walker's autopsy. The results of the autopsy 
conflicted with Wilson's account of a single, 
accidental blow to Walker's head. Dr. Enstice 
testified that Walker had fresh defensive wounds on 
his hands and arms. She gave a conservative 
estimate of 114 contusions and abrasions on Walker's 
body, 32 of which were on his head. Additionally, 
Walker had multiple skull fractures and three 
separate lacerations on his scalp. Walker also 
suffered eight broken ribs and a fracture to his 
sternum. Dr. Enstice ruled out the possibility that 
these injuries could have been sustained by a single 
blow to the head and a subsequent fall."

Wilson, 142 So. 3d at 748-50 (opinion on return to remand)

Standard of Review

Wilson appeals the circuit court's summary dismissal of 
his petition for postconviction relief attacking his 
capital-murder conviction and sentence of death. According to 
Rule 32.3, Ala. R. Crim. P., Wilson has the sole burden of
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pleading and proving that he is entitled to relief. Rule 
32.3, Ala. R. Crim. P., provides:

"The petitioner shall have the burden of 
pleading and proving by a preponderance of the 
evidence the facts necessary to entitle the 
petitioner to relief. The state shall have the 
burden of pleading any ground of preclusion, but 
once a ground of preclusion has been pleaded, the 
petitioner shall have the burden of disproving its 
existence by a preponderance of the evidence."

When it reviewed Wilson's claims 
Court applied a plain-error standard 
every issue regardless of whether the

on direct appeal, this 
of review and examined 
issue was preserved for

appellate review. See Rule 45A, Ala. R. App. However, the
plain-error standard does not apply when evaluating a ruling 
on a postconviction petition, even when the petitioner has 
been sentenced to death. See Ferguson v. State, 13 So. 3d
418, 424 (Ala. Crim. App. 2008); Waldrop v. State, 987 So. 2d
1186 (Ala. Crim. App. 2007); Hall v. State, 979 So. 2d 125 
(Ala. Crim. App. 2007); Gaddy v. State, 952 So. 2d 1149 (Ala. 
Crim. App. 2006). "The standard of review this Court uses in 
evaluating the rulings made by the trial court is whether the 
trial court abused its discretion." Hunt v. State, 940 So. 2d
1041, 1049 (Ala. Crim. App. 2005) (citing Elliott v. State,
601 So. 2d 1118, 1119 (Ala. Crim. App. 1992)). However,
"[t]he sufficiency of pleadings in a Rule 32 petition is a 
question of law. 'The standard of review for pure questions 
of law in criminal cases is de novo. Ex parte Key, 890 So. 2d 
1056, 1059 (Ala. 2003).'" Ex parte Beckworth, 190 So. 3d 571, 
573 (Ala. 2013) (quoting Ex parte Lamb, 113 So. 3d 686, 689
(Ala. 2011)). Last, "[t]his Court may affirm the judgment of 
the circuit court for any reason, even if not for the reason 
stated by the circuit court." Acra v. State, 105 So. 3d 460, 
464 (Ala. Crim. App. 2012).

With these principles in mind, this Court reviews the 
claims raised by Wilson in his brief to this Court.1

1The claims that
are deemed abandoned _
93 (Ala. Crim. App. 1995)

Wilson has failed to reassert on appeal 
See Brownlee v. State, 666 So. 2d 91,
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Wilson argues that the circuit court erred in dismissing 
his claim that the State committed a Brady violation. In his 
petition, Wilson pleaded that the State suppressed exculpatory 
evidence in the form of a letter written by Catherine Corley, 
one of his codefendants, and an expert report generated in 
conjunction with the State's investigation of this letter. On 
April 14, 2004, Corley gave a statement to law enforcement in 
which she admitted to entering Walker's residence after he had 
been killed and to rummaging through his property. (C. 612.) 
Wilson pleaded, however, that the State was made aware of 
Corley's admitting to a more significant role in Walker's 
murder. Specifically, Wilson pleaded that on September 2, 
2004, the district attorney and Investigator Luker met with an 
attorney representing an inmate who was incarcerated with 
Corley. During that meeting, the attorney presented the men 
with a "handwritten letter [that] contained details of the 
murder of Dewey Walker which only the perpetrators would have 
known.” (C. 615.) The letter ”described how the writer hit 
Mr. Walker with a baseball bat until he fell.” (C. 615.) The 
letter was signed ”Nicole” and also stated that the writer's 
nickname was ”Kittie.” Investigator Luker's report indicated 
that Corley's middle name was ”Nicole” and that her nickname 
was ”Kittie.”

The State initiated an investigation into the letter. 
The State sought an order for Corley to provide palm prints to 
be compared to those found on the letter, and Investigator 
Luker executed a search warrant on Corley's jail cell during 
which he collected writing samples. The State employed the 
use of a handwriting expert who determined, based on the known 
samples, that the letter had ”probably” been written by 
Corley. (C. 36.)

Wilson pleaded that neither the letter nor the expert 
report have ever been produced to him and that the evidence 
was favorable and material. The circuit court dismissed this 
claim as being procedurally barred by Rules 32.2(a)(3) and 
32.2(a)(5), Ala. R. Crim. P., and without merit.

I.

Wilson argues that the instant petition provided him with 
the first opportunity to raise this Brady claim. Although the 
State does not contest Wilson's claim that neither the letter
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nor the expert report were produced, the State does assert 
that the existence of the evidence was disclosed to Wilson.

The State's position is supported by Wilson's own 
petition. Wilson attached to his petition a copy of the 
police report in which Investigator Luker described the letter 
allegedly authored by Corley and his efforts to investigate 
the matter. (C. 615-16.) Each page of the police report
bears the initials of one of Wilson's trial counsel, and 
Wilson acknowledges in his petition that the police report was 
included in discovery. (C. 249, n.5.)

Even if the State failed to disclose the letter and the 
expert report, Wilson was aware of the State's failure to 
disclose the evidence prior to trial. In other words, Wilson 
could have raised this Brady claim at trial or on appeal. As 
such, this claim is procedurally barred by Rules 32.2(a)(3) 
and 32.2(a)(5), and the circuit court did not err in 
dismissing this claim.

II.

Wilson argues that the circuit court erred in dismissing 
his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. When 
pleading claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, this 
Court has stated:

"To sufficiently plead an allegation of 
ineffective assistance of counsel, a Rule 32 
petitioner not only must 'identify the [specific] 
acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to 
have been the result of reasonable professional 
judgment,' Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 
690, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984), but 
also must plead specific facts indicating that he or 
she was prejudiced by the acts or omissions, i.e.,
facts indicating 
probability that, 
errors, the result 
different.' 466 U. 
Ed. 2d 674. A

'that there is a reasonable 
but for counsel's unprofessional 
of the proceeding would have been 
.S. at 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. 
bare allegation that prejudice 

occurred without specific facts indicating how the 
petitioner was prejudiced is not sufficient.”
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Hyde v. State, 950 So. 2d 344, 356 (Ala. Crim. App. 2006).

"An evidentiary hearing on a coram nobis 
petition [now Rule 32 petition] is required only if 
the petition is 'meritorious on its face.' Ex parte 
Boatwright, 471 So. 2d 1257 (Ala. 1985). A petition 
is 'meritorious on its face' only if it contains a 
clear and specific statement of the grounds upon 
which relief is sought, including full disclosure of 
the facts relied upon (as opposed to a general 
statement concerning the nature and effect of those 
facts) sufficient to show that the petitioner is 
entitled to relief if those facts are true. Ex 
parte Boatwright, supra; Ex parte Clisby, 501 So. 2d 
483 (Ala. 1986)."

Moore v. State, 502 So. 2d 819, 820 (Ala. 1986). Further,

"The burden of pleading under Rule 32.3 and Rule 
32.6(b) is a heavy one. Conclusions unsupported by 
specific facts will not satisfy the requirements of 
Rule 32.3 and Rule 32.6(b). The full factual basis 
for the claim must be included in the petition 
itself. If, assuming every factual allegation in a 
Rule 32 petition to be true, a court cannot 
determine whether the petitioner is entitled to 
relief, the petitioner has not satisfied the burden 
of pleading under Rule 32.3 and Rule 32.6(b). See 
Bracknell v. State, 883 So. 2d 724 (Ala. Crim. App. 
2003)."

Hyde, 950 So. 2d at 356.

A.

at
Wilson first asserted that trial counsel were ineffective 
the guilt phase.2 Wilson pleaded that he received

2The circuit court dismissed any claims of ineffective 
assistance of counsel that related solely to pretrial counsel 
as being procedurally barred pursuant to Rule 32.2(a)(3) and 
32.2(a)(5). To the extent any of these claims are reasserted 
on appeal, the circuit court did not err in dismissing them.
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ineffective assistance of counsel because trial counsel: 1) 
failed to adequately challenge the legality of his arrest or 
the admissibility of his statement; 2) failed to investigate 
Corley's confession; 3) failed to object adequately to the 
voluntariness of Wilson's custodial statement; 4) failed to 
present an adequate opening statement; 5) failed to object to 
numerous instances of prosecutorial misconduct; 6) waived 
closing argument; and 7) failed to protect his right to a fair 
and honest jury determination.

1.

Wilson asserted in his petition that he received 
ineffective assistance of counsel because trial counsel failed 
to adequately challenge the legality of his arrest or the 
admissibility of his statement. Wilson gave an inculpatory 
statement to law enforcement on the morning of April 14. 
Officers had arrived at the mobile home of Wilson's mother at 
3:47 a.m. Wilson's mother allowed the officers inside while 
she roused Wilson. Wilson came into the living room where 
Investigator Luker "told him that we needed to talk with him, 
that he needed to come -- if he would come with us to talk 
with us about an incident.” (Trial R. 12.) According to 
Investigator Luker, Wilson voluntarily agreed to go with the 
officers to the Dothan Police Department. There, Wilson was 
informed of and waived his Miranda rights. Wilson then gave 
a detailed statement to Investigator Luker and Sergeant Etress 
in which he admitted to striking Walker with a bat, to choking 
him with a computer-mouse cord and an extension cord, and to 
stealing various items of Walker's property. Investigator 
Luker obtained a search warrant for the mobile home of 
Wilson's mother, which led to the discovery of Walker's car- 
stereo equipment in Wilson's bedroom.

Trial counsel for Wilson filed a motion to suppress 
Wilson's statement and all evidence gathered as a result 
thereof in which he challenged the legality of Wilson's

See Moody v. State, 95 So. 3d 827, 837-38 (Ala. Crim. App.
2011) (”We agree with the circuit court that Moody's claims of 
ineffective assistance of pretrial counsel were precluded by 
Rules 32.2(a)(3) and (a)(5), because they could have been, but 
were not, raised and addressed at trial and on appeal.”).

11



arrest. (Trial C. 59-61.) Nonetheless, Wilson pleaded in his 
petition that trial counsel were ineffective because they 
failed to argue the issue adequately. Specifically, Wilson 
pleaded that trial counsel should have argued that he was 
illegally arrested in his home under the holding of the 
Supreme Court of the United States in Kaupp v. Texas, 538 U.S. 
626 (2003). Although trial counsel briefly cited to Kaupp in 
their motion to suppress, Wilson pleaded that the facts in his 
case mirrored those in Kaupp and that trial counsel failed to 
draw parallels to Kaupp to make the motion meritorious. 
Instead, trial counsel merely copied a sample motion from a 
capital-defense handbook and failed to tailor the motion to 
Wilson's case. Wilson further pleaded that had trial counsel 
effectively drafted and argued his motion to suppress, his 
statement would have been suppressed as well as all the 
evidence obtained from the search of his mother's mobile home. 
The circuit court dismissed this claim as being insufficiently 
pleaded and without merit.

In Kaupp, the Supreme Court considered whether Kaupp's 
confession should be suppressed under the following facts:

"After a 14-year-old girl disappeared in January 
1999, the Harris County Sheriff's Department learned 
she had had a sexual relationship with her 
19-year-old half brother, who had been in the 
company of petitioner Robert Kaupp, then 17 years 
old, on the day of the girl's disappearance. On 
January 26th, deputy sheriffs questioned the brother 
and Kaupp at headquarters; Kaupp was cooperative and 
was permitted to leave, but the brother failed a 
polygraph examination (his third such failure). 
Eventually he confessed that he had fatally stabbed 
his half sister and placed her body in a drainage 
ditch. He implicated Kaupp in the crime.

"Detectives immediately tried but failed to 
obtain a warrant to question Kaupp. Detective 
Gregory Pinkins nevertheless decided (in his words) 
to 'get [Kaupp] in and confront him with what [the 
brother] had said.' ... In the company of two other 
plainclothes detectives and three uniformed 
officers, Pinkins went to Kaupp's house at 
approximately 3 a.m. on January 27th. After Kaupp's
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father let them in, Pinkins, with at least two other 
officers, went to Kaupp's bedroom, awakened him with 
a flashlight, identified himself, and said, '”we 
need to go and talk.”' ... Kaupp said '"Okay."' ... 
The two officers then handcuffed Kaupp and led him, 
shoeless and dressed only in boxer shorts and a 
T-shirt, out of his house and into a patrol car. 
The State points to nothing in the record indicating 
Kaupp was told that he was free to decline to go 
with the officers.

"They stopped for 5 or 10 minutes where the 
victim's body had just been found, in anticipation 
of confronting Kaupp with the brother's confession, 
and then went on to the sheriff's headquarters. 
There, they took Kaupp to an interview room, removed 
his handcuffs, and advised him of his rights under 
Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 

694 (1966). Kaupp first denied any
in the victim's disappearance, but 10 or 

the interrogation, he was told of 
he admitted

L. Ed. 2d 
involvement 
15 minutes into 
the brother's confession,
part in the crime. 
causing the fatal 
which he was later

He did not, however, 
wound or confess to 
indicted."

having some 
acknowledge 
murder, for

Kaupp, 538 U.S. at 627-29 (footnote omitted). The Supreme 
Court held that "[s]ince Kaupp was arrested before he was 
questioned, and because the State [did] not even claim that 
the sheriff's department had probable cause to detain him at 
that point, well-established precedent require[d] suppression 
of the confession." Id. at 632.

Although the facts in Kaupp share some similarities to 
those present here, trial counsel's reliance on Kaupp would 
have been unavailing. The circuit court noted several points 
on which to distinguish the facts in the present case from 
those in Kaupp, see (C. 1538-39), but most significant is 
this: here, the officers here had probable cause to arrest 
Wilson. As this Court stated on direct appeal:

"Here, Investigator Luker had probable cause to 
arrest Wilson for Walker's murder.[FN 11] See Dixon 
v. State, 588 So. 2d 903, 906 (Ala. 1991) ('Probable
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cause exists if facts and circumstances known to the 
arresting officer are sufficient to warrant a person 
of reasonable caution to believe that the suspect 
has committed a crime.'). Prior to Investigator 
Luker's contact with Wilson, each of Wilson's 
accomplices had confessed, and one of his 
accomplices had informed Investigator Luker that 
'Wilson was to get half of the audio equipment from 
the van because he had taken all of the chances in 
[the] burglary, theft and murder.' (C. 419.) Based 
on the accomplice's confession implicating Wilson in 
the murder, Investigator Luker had probable cause to 
arrest Wilson for Walker's murder. See Vincent v. 
State, 349 So. 2d 1145, 1146 (Ala. 1977) (holding
that the uncorroborated testimony of accomplice is 
a sufficient basis for a finding of probable cause).

” [FN 11] Wilson rightly does not argue that 
Investigator Luker lacked probable cause to 
arrest him; instead, Wilson argues only 
that the State failed to establish exigent 
circumstances to justify his warrantless, 
in-home arrest.”

Wilson, 142 So. 3d at 767. This Court did not address the 
existence of an exigent circumstance that would justify 
Wilson's arrest in his home, see Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 
573, 588-602 (1980), instead holding that Wilson ”voluntarily 
left his home and was in a public place where he could be 
arrested based on probable cause alone.” Id. (citing State v. 
Solberg, 122 Wash. 2d 688, 861 P.2d 460, 465 (1993)). This 
Court went on to hold that even if Wilson had been ”illegally 
arrested in his home based on probable cause alone, Payton, 
445 U.S. at 587-88, the exclusionary rule would not require 
suppression of his confession because his confession was given 
at the police station as opposed to in his home.” See New 
York v. Harris, 495 U.S. 14, 21 (1990). Consequently, trial 
counsel's analogizing Wilson's case to Kaupp would have been
meritless. 
Crim. App

See Bearden v
2001)

failing to raise meritless claim)

State, 825 So. 2d 868, 872 (Ala. 
trial counsel cannot be ineffective for

Wilson also challenged trial counsel's effectiveness in 
litigating the existence of probable cause to arrest him.
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Wilson pleaded that the State's evidence at the suppression 
hearing was insufficient to show the existence of probable 
cause because the State did not present the contents of the 
co-defendants' statements and because the statements of co­
defendants are inherently unreliable.3 Wilson alleged that 
trial counsel were ineffective because they failed to object 
to the State's failure to meet its burden of proof at the 
suppression hearing.

As Wilson pleaded, the State did not offer extensive 
detail of the statements made by Wilson's co-defendants. 
There was evidence, however, from which the contents of the 
statements could have been inferred. Investigator Luker 
testified that he had interviewed Wilson's co-defendants 
first, that all had confessed, and that there was nothing in 
their statements to indicate that Wilson was innocent in the 
killing of Walker. (Trial R. 25-26, 63-64.) Importantly, 
Wilson has not pleaded the contents of the co-defendants' 
statements. It appears, based on the record, that the co­
defendants implicated Wilson in Walker's murder.4 Had 
Wilson's trial counsel raised the objection Wilson now asserts 
they should have made, the State could have offered the 
statements. Because Wilson has failed to plead the contents 
of the statement, and, more specifically, that the statements 
did not implicate him in Walker's murder, there are 
insufficient facts pleaded to show prejudice in trial

3Wilson also challenges this Court's stating on direct 
appeal that each of Wilson's co-defendants had confessed prior 
to Investigator Luker's contact with Wilson, arguing that 
Corley was arrested after Wilson. Investigator Luker was 
asked at the suppression hearing whether Wilson was "the last 
defendant involved in the killing of Mr. Walker you had 
interviewed?” (Trial R. 26.) Investigator Luker answered,
”Yes, sir, it was.” Id.

Even
Corley's
Wilson's

assuming Wilson's allegation to 
confession 
other two

occurred subsequent
be true -- that 
to Wilson's --

co-defendants confessed prior to
Investigator Luker's contact with Wilson.

4Wilson attached to
Marsh's statement. 
David Wilson as the

his petition the police report of 
report indicates that Marsh ”named

(C. 707.)
The

person who killed Mr. Walker,
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counsel's failing to make the objection.

In support of his pleading that co-defendant statements 
are insufficient to create probable cause to arrest, Wilson 
has cited to a number of federal and Alabama cases and an 
Alabama statute that directly or indirectly discuss the 
reliability of such evidence. See, eg., Lee v. Illinois, 476 
U.S. 530 (1986); Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968); 
Lilly v. Virginia, 527 U.S. 116 (1999); Wong Sun v. United 
States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963); Bone v. State, 706 So. 2d 1291 
(Ala. Crim. App. 1997); Steele v. State, 512 So. 2d 142 (Ala. 
Crim. App. 1987); and § 12-21-222, Ala. Code 1975. Not one of 
these sources supports Wilson's argument that a co-defendant's 
statement cannot create probable cause to arrest. There is, 
however, precedent in Alabama to the contrary. In McWhorter 
v. State, 781 So. 2d 257, 287-88 (Ala. Crim. App. 1999), this 
Court held that the arresting officer had probable cause to 
arrest McWhorter based on a statement given by his accomplice. 
See also Vincent v. State, 349 So. 2d 1145, 1146 (Ala. 1977) 
and R.J. v. State, 627 So. 2d 1163, 1165 (Ala. Crim. App. 
1993). Consequently, Wilson has failed to show that trial 
counsel's objecting to the sufficiency of the State's evidence 
at the suppression hearing would have had merit.

Wilson has made a number of other related claims, such as 
alleging that Investigator Luker failed to testify at the 
suppression hearing to exigent circumstances, that Wilson's 
waiver of his Miranda rights did not cure an illegal arrest, 
and that the search warrant for the mobile home of Wilson's 
mother was invalid as it relied on false information and a 
statement that should have been suppressed. Wilson pleaded 
that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to raise each 
of these claims.

These related claims are all reliant on a finding that 
Wilson's statement should have been suppressed based on a lack 
of probable cause to arrest Wilson at his mother's mobile 
home. For instance, Wilson pleaded that the search warrant 
for his mother's mobile home was defective because the 
warrant's affidavit relied on his illegally-obtained statement 
and a false statement made by Investigator Luker. In the 
affidavit, Investigator Luker stated that, according to 
Corley, Wilson was going to hide Walker's stereo equipment in 
and under his mother's mobile home. (Trial C. 403.) Because
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Investigator Luker was not listed as being present during 
Corley's statement and because the alleged location of the 
stereo equipment did not appear in the transcript of Corley's 
statement, (C. 631), Wilson asserted that the assertion was 
false. Even if Wilson could prove that Investigator Luker was 
not present during Corley's statement and/or that Corley did 
not make the assertion during her recorded statement, Wilson 
would still not be entitled to relief. At most, the statement 
would be taken out of consideration for making a determination 
of probable cause, and the affidavit would still support the 
search warrant based on Wilson's confession. See Moore v. 
State, 570 So. 2d 788, 789-90 (Ala. Crim. App. 1990) (” [W]e 
must delete that information and 'determine whether the rest 
of the information contained in the affidavit was sufficient 
to support a finding of probable cause.'” (quoting Villemez v. 
State, 555 So. 2d 344, 344 (Ala. Crim. App. 1989))); Franks v. 
Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 155-56 (1978) (same). Wilson's 
remaining related claims must likewise fail. This Court held 
on direct appeal that there was probable cause to arrest 
Wilson and that, even in the absence of exigent circumstances, 
Wilson's statement was not due to be suppressed. Wilson, 142 
So. 3d at 767-68. Although Wilson has identified a number of 
arguments trial counsel could have raised, he has failed to 
plead sufficient facts to show that any of these arguments 
would have been meritorious. See Bearden, 825 So. 2d at 872 
(trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise 
meritless claim). As such, the circuit court did not err in 
dismissing this claim. See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

2.

Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because trial counsel failed to investigate 
Corley's confession. Wilson admitted in his petition that 
trial counsel received police reports that referenced a letter 
-- allegedly written by Corley, in which the author admitted 
to striking Walker with a bat until he fell -- and details of 
the investigation into the letter. Wilson pleaded that a 
confession by a co-defendant would have been critical evidence 
at trial, yet trial counsel failed to obtain the letter, which 
could have been located in Corley's case file. Wilson further 
pleaded that had trial counsel investigated the letter, they 
would have learned of the State's investigation into the 
letter, which determined that the letter was likely authored
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by Corley. The circuit court dismissed this claim as being 
insufficiently pleaded and without merit.

"'Hearsay' is a statement, other than one made by the 
declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in 
evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 
801(c), Ala. R. Evid. "Hearsay is not admissible except as 
provided by these rules, or by other rules adopted by the 
Supreme Court of Alabama or by statute." Rule 802, Ala. R. 
Evid. The letter, which would be offered to prove that Corley 
was responsible for Walker's death, i.e., the truth of the 
matter asserted, would certainly be hearsay and inadmissible 
under Rule 802. Even so, Wilson pleaded that this State's 
rules of evidence must yield to his constitutional right to 
present a defense. See Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 
(1973) and Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006).

"In Chambers, the United States Supreme Court 
held that 'where constitutional rights directly 
affecting the ascertainment of guilt are implicated, 
the hearsay rule may not be applied mechanistically 
to defeat the ends of justice.' 410 U.S. at 302.
In Chambers, the trial court's application of the 
rules of evidence prohibited Leon Chambers, the 
defendant, from presenting evidence of a third 
party's culpability. Chambers was charged with 
killing Aaron Liberty. At trial, Chambers 
maintained that he did not shoot Liberty. In 
support of his defense, Chambers presented testimony 
from Gable McDonald, who had given a sworn statement 
to Chambers's counsel, that McDonald had shot 
Liberty. On cross-examination by the State, 
McDonald repudiated his confession and testified 
that he did not shoot Liberty and that he confessed 
to the crime in order to receive favorable treatment 
from law enforcement.

"When Chambers attempted to challenge McDonald's 
renunciation of his confession by having him 
declared an adverse witness, the trial court, 
applying Mississippi's rules of evidence, denied 
Chambers's request. Additionally, the trial court, 
applying Mississippi's rules of evidence, refused to 
admit testimony from individuals to whom McDonald



had admitted that he shot Liberty. In reaching its 
conclusion that the trial court's application of the 
rules of evidence prevented Chambers from developing 
his defense that another, not he, shot Liberty, the 
United States Supreme Court stated that the evidence 
the trial court refused to admit was critical to 
Chambers's defense. The United States Supreme Court 
reasoned that because the strict application of 
Mississippi's rules of evidence had prohibited the 
admission of critical evidence in Chambers's 
defense, the trial court's strict application of 
those rules to exclude the critical evidence denied 
Chambers a trial that complied with due process. 
410 U.S. at 302, 93 S. Ct. 1038.

"In Ex parte Griffin, 790 So. 2d 351 (Ala. 
2000), this Court applied Chambers. In Ex parte 
Griffin, the State charged Louis Griffin with the 
murder of Christopher Davis after he had admitted, 
while pleading guilty to various offenses in federal 
court, that he had participated in the murder. At 
trial, Griffin's defense was that he did not kill 
Davis and that he had lied to the federal court in 
his allocution to receive favorable treatment. To 
support this defense, Griffin attempted to present 
evidence indicating that two other men had been 
charged with killing Davis; that one of the men, 
Anthony Embry, had admitted under oath in court that 
he had killed Davis; that Embry had been convicted 
of Davis's murder; that Embry had been incarcerated 
for the conviction; and that a state court had 
dismissed Embry's conviction ex mero motu. The 
trial court, applying the Alabama Rules of Evidence, 
refused to admit the evidence of Embry's 
culpability. This Court, recognizing that the 
evidence of Embry's confession and conviction was 
critical in establishing Griffin's defense that 
another, not he, killed Davis, held that the trial 
court's ruling excluding the evidence with regard to 
Embry's confession and conviction prohibited Griffin 
from presenting his defense to the jury and violated 
his due-process rights under the 5th and 6th 
Amendments.
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"The holdings in both Chambers and Griffin rest 
upon the fact that the trial court's strict 
application of the rules of evidence excluded 
critical evidence proffered by the defense, and the 
exclusion of the critical evidence resulted in the 
defendants' being denied their constitutional right 
to a fair trial and due process. Critical evidence 
is defined as '[e]vidence strong enough that its 
presence could tilt a juror's mind.' Black's Law 
Dictionary 674 (10th ed. 2014). In both Chambers
and Griffin, the excluded evidence was critical to 
the defense because each defendant had denied 
participation in the offense and the excluded 
evidence indicated that another individual had 
admitted to committing the offense. When a 
defendant denies participation in an offense, 
evidence indicating that someone else has admitted 
to committing the offense and that that admission 
excludes the defendant as the offender, as it did in 
Chambers and Griffin, may be strong enough to 
influence a juror. Thus, depending on the facts of 
the case, the strict application of the rules of 
evidence to exclude critical evidence may render a 
trial fundamentally unfair."

Acosta v. State, 208 So. 3d 651, 655-56 (Ala. 2016).

"Like the federal courts, Alabama courts have 
long recognized the right of a defendant to prove 
his innocence by presenting evidence that another 
person actually committed the crime. See Ex parte 
Walker, 623 So. 2d 281 (Ala. 1992); Thomas v. State, 
539 So. 2d 375 (Ala. Crim. App. 1988) .... In 
addition, Alabama courts have also recognized the 
danger in confusing the jury with mere speculation 
concerning the guilt of a third party:

"It generally is agreed that the 
defense, in disproving the accused's own 
guilt, may prove that another person 
committed the crime for which the accused
is being prosecuted...  The problem which
arises in the application of this general 
rule, however, is the degree of strength
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that must be possessed by the exculpatory 
evidence to render it admissible. The task 
of determining the weight that must be 
possessed by such evidence of another's 
guilt is a difficult one.'

"Charles W. Gamble, McElroy's Alabama Evidence § 
48.01(1) (5th ed. 1996). To remove this difficulty, 
this Court has set out a test intended to ensure 
that any evidence offered for this purpose is 
admissible only when it is probative and not merely 
speculative. Three elements must exist before this 
evidence can be ruled admissible: (1) the evidence 
'must relate to the "res gestae" of the crime'; (2) 
the evidence must exclude the accused as a 
perpetrator of the offense; and (3) the evidence 
'would have to be admissible if the third party was 
on trial.' See Ex parte Walker, 623 So. 2d at 284, 
and Thomas, 539 So. 2d at 394-96.

Griffin, 790 So. 2d at 353-54 (some citations omitted).

Here, Wilson's claim is insufficiently pleaded because he 
failed to plead facts to satisfy the elements for 
admissibility established in Griffin. Specifically, Corley's 
admitting that she hit Walker "with a baseball bat until he 
fell," (C. 615), would not exclude Wilson as the perpetrator 
of capital murder. Dr. Enstice "gave a conservative estimate 
of 114 contusions and abrasions on Walker's body, 32 of which 
were on his head." Wilson, 142 So. 3d at 750. Corley's 
confession would not show that Wilson did not strike or kill 
Walker, or that he lacked the intent to kill Walker.

Because Wilson failed to plead sufficient facts to 
satisfy the test established in Griffin, he has failed to show 
that the letter would have been admissible. Consequently, 
even assuming trial counsel were deficient in failing to 
investigate the letter and the expert reports generated in 
conjunction with its investigation, Wilson has failed to show 
that he was prejudiced by the deficiency. As such, the 
circuit court did not err in dismissing this claim. See Rule 
32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.
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Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because trial counsel failed to object adequately 
to the voluntariness of Wilson's custodial statement. 
Although trial counsel filed a motion challenging the 
voluntariness of his custodial statement, Wilson pleaded that 
the motion was a sample motion from a capital-defense handbook 
that lacked any relevant facts. Wilson pleaded that trial 
counsel should have presented the following relevant facts in 
his motion and at the suppression hearing:

"[T]he timing of the initial encounter early in 
the morning with Mr. Wilson being roused from his 
bed, the show of force by the presence of at least 
five officers in his home, the quick transport to 
the police station in handcuffs and in a police 
vehicle, the proximity of the interrogation to his 
arrival, the location in isolation in a 'conference' 
room at the police station, the deliberate decision 
not to tape the beginning of the questioning, the 
continuity of the questioning (with off-the-record 
preliminaries and conclusion), as well as Mr. 
Wilson's youth, somewhat limited intellectual 
capabilities, emotional instability, and 
inexperience with the criminal justice system -­
show that Mr. Wilson was in no frame of mind to 
'volunteer' a statement to police, with knowledge 
and understanding of what rights he was forgoing, 
notwithstanding Sgt. Luker's self-serving assertions 
to the contrary.”

(C. 334.) According to Wilson's petition, had the trial court 
been presented with these facts, the trial court would have 
found, under the totality of the circumstances, that his 
statement was involuntary. The circuit court dismissed this 
claim as being without merit.

None of the facts Wilson claims his trial counsel should 
have presented to the trial court were outside the record on 
direct appeal. Consequently, these facts were already 
considered by this Court on direct appeal when it engaged in 
a totality-of-the-circumstances analysis:

3.
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"Considering the totality of the circumstances, 
the State presented sufficient evidence to establish 
the prerequisites to the admission of Wilson's 
statement. Investigator Luker testified that before 
Wilson gave his statement, Investigator Luker read 
Wilson his Miranda rights. Wilson did not appear to 
be under the influence of alcohol or drugs and 
appeared to understand his rights. Wilson signed 
the waiver-of-rights form. The form Wilson signed 
stated that he had read his rights, that he 
understood his rights, and that he waived those 
rights without being offered any promises or 
receiving any threats. (C. 428.) Investigator 
Luker further testified that no one offered Wilson 
any promises or made any threats before or during 
Wilson's statement.

In addition to Investigator Luker's testimony, 
this Court has listened to the recorded portion of 
Wilson's statement. On the recording, Wilson states 
that he was read his rights and that he understood 
those rights. Wilson does not sound as though he 
was under the influence of any intoxicant. Further, 
Wilson states that he has voluntarily waived his 
rights. Finally, Wilson states that no one made any 
promises or threatened him in an attempt to force 
him to give his statement.

"Based on the foregoing evidence indicating that
Wilson was read his Miranda warnings, that he 
understood and voluntarily waived his Miranda 
rights, and that he chose to make a statement 
without any promises or threats, Wilson has not 
established that the admission of his statement
resulted in any error, plain or otherwise. 
Therefore, Wilson is entitled to no relief on this 
claim."

Wilson, 142 So. 3d at 763-64 (emphasis added).

Although this Court conducted a plain-error analysis, it 
held that no error occurred in the admission of Wilson's 
statement. Trial counsel cannot be held ineffective for 
failing to raise meritless arguments. See Bearden, 825 So. 2d
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at 872. As 
this claim.

such, the circuit court 
See Rule 32.7(d), Ala.

did not err 
R. Crim. P.

in dismissing

4.

Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because trial counsel failed to present an adequate 
opening statement. Wilson pleaded that trial counsel failed 
to present any defense theory during his opening statement and 
instead merely cautioned the jury that what the lawyers said 
was not evidence and asked the jurors to listen closely to the 
testimony. According to Wilson's petition, trial counsel 
should have told the jury that Marsh had a specific reason for 
revenge against Walker's son, that the murder weapon was found 
in Jackson's vehicle, that the gloves used in the murder were 
found in Marsh's vehicle, and that the State had failed to 
conduct sufficient forensic testing. Wilson added that trial 
counsel should have explained to the jury that he was highly 
impressionable with low self-esteem, that he could have been 
talked into taking the blame for a crime he did not commit, 
and that law enforcement shaped his statement to make it 
incriminating. The circuit court dismissed this claim as 
being insufficiently pleaded and without merit.

Initially, this Court holds that this portion of Wilson's 
brief fails to comply with Rule 28(a)(10), Ala. R. App. P., 
because he has failed to cite any legal authority in support 
of this claim of ineffectiveness. See (Wilson's brief, at 53­
54.) "'Rule 2 8(a)[(10)], Ala. R. App. P., ... requires 
parties to include in their appellate briefs an argument 
section with citations to relevant legal authorities and to 
portions of the record relied on in their claims for relief.'" 
Hooks v. State, 141 So. 3d 1119, 1123-24 (Ala. Crim. App. 
2013) (quoting Hamm v. State, 913 So. 2d 460, 486 (Ala. Crim. 
App. 2002)). "'Authority supporting only "general 
propositions of law" does not constitute a sufficient argument 
for reversal.'" Hooks, 141 So. 3d at 1124 (quoting Hodges v. 
State, 926 So. 2d 1060, 1074 (Ala. Crim. App. 2005)). As a 
result, this claim is deemed waived.

Moreover, even if this claim were not waived, Wilson 
would still not be entitled to relief. First, Wilson's claim 
that trial counsel "simply cautioned the jury that what the 
lawyers said was not evidence and to listen closely to the
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testimony," is factually inaccurate. Trial counsel also 
discussed with the jury factors he believed affected the 
credibility of Wilson's confession, arguably the most damning 
evidence against Wilson, and he pointed out that the State had 
failed to have a number of items submitted for forensic 
testing. (Trial R. 211-15.) Second, Wilson failed to plead 
sufficient facts to support his claim. For instance, Wilson 
failed to plead what admissible evidence trial counsel should 
have offered to support a claim regarding Marsh's motive. 
Also, Wilson failed to plead the significance of discussing 
with the jury the location of the gloves or the baseball bat, 
given that the State had a taped confession from Wilson in 
which he told officers that the gloves he had used were in 
Marsh's vehicle and he identified the baseball bat found in 
Jackson's vehicle as the one with which he had struck Walker. 
(Trial C. 501, 504.) Wilson's claim that trial counsel did
not alert the jury to deficiencies 
testing is refuted by the record.

in the State's forensic

This claim is insufficiently pleaded. See Rules 32.3 and 
32.6(b), Ala. R. Crim. P. As such, the circuit court did not 
err in dismissing it. See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

5.

Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because trial counsel failed to object to numerous 
instances of prosecutorial misconduct. Specifically, Wilson 
pleaded that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to 
object: a) to testimony from an unqualified State witness as 
a purported serologist and blood-spatter expert; b) to the 
false testimony of Investigator Luker elicited by the State; 
and c) to repeated introduction at the guilt phase of evidence 
relating to the "especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel" 
aggravating factor. Wilson also pleaded: d) that he was 
prejudiced by the cumulative effect of trial counsel's 
failures to object to prosecutorial misconduct.

a.

Wilson pleaded that trial counsel were ineffective for 
failing to object to testimony from an unqualified State 
witness as a purported serologist and blood-spatter expert. 
Here, Wilson referred to Investigator Luker's testimony in
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which he drew "conclusions about what certain reddish spots he 
observed in areas of the house away from Mr. Walker's body 
were, i.e., blood, and what the shape and location of these 
purported blood droplets meant about the course of the attack 
on Mr. Walker." (C. 358.) Wilson pleaded that Investigator 
Luker's testimony "impermissibly assumed what needed to be 
proved as the foundation for everything else he said about 
blood droplets, i.e., that the droplets were, in fact, blood." 
(C. 360.) Additionally, Wilson pleaded that Investigator
Luker concluded "that Mr. Walker must have been in other parts 
of the house than the kitchen after being struck because of 
the blood found in other areas." (C. 361.) The circuit court 
dismissed this claim as being insufficiently pleaded and 
without merit.

This Court addressed on direct appeal the substantive 
argument at issue here:

"This Court has held:

"'In general, blood-spatter analysis 
is the process of examining the size, 
location, and configuration of bloodstains 
at a crime scene and using the general 
characteristics of blood to determine the 
direction, angle, and speed of the blood 
before it impacts on a surface in order to 
recreate the circumstances of the crime.
See generally Danny R. Veilleux, 
Annotation, Admissibility, in Criminal 
Prosecution, of Expert Opinion Evidence as 
to "Blood Sp[l]atter" Interpretation, 9 
A.L.R.5th 369 (1993), and the cases cited
therein. Blood-spatter analysis is
typically used to determine the position of 
the victim and the assailant at the time of 
a crime.'

"Gavin v. State, 891 So. 
App. 2003).

2d 907, 969 (Ala. Crim.

"Here, Investigator Luker did not analyze the 
blood spatter to determine the positions of Walker 
and Wilson at the time of the crime. Rather, his
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testimony related to his identification of blood at 
the scene and his common-sense observation that 
there would be some indication if blood had flowed 
from one area of the scene to another. Thus, 
Investigator Luker did not offer expert scientific 
testimony, and the State was not required to 
establish his qualifications as an expert in 
blood-spatter analysis. See Leonard v. State, 551 
So. 2d 1143, 1146 (Ala. Crim. App. 1989)
(reaffirmance that lay witnesses may identify a 
substance as blood); Gavin, 891 So. 2d at 967-70 
(holding that it was not error to allow lay 
testimony that 'the blood flow coming from the body 
ran away from the area of the seat that [defendant] 
would have been seated in'). Accordingly, this 
issue does not entitle Wilson to any relief.”

Wilson, 142 So. 3d 804-05.

Although this Court conducted a plain-error review on 
this issue, it examined Investigator Luker's testimony and 
determined that he ”did not offer expert scientific testimony, 
[thus,] the State was not required to establish his 
qualifications as an expert in blood-spatter analysis.” Id. 
at 804. As part of that analysis, this Court recognized that 
lay witnesses may identify substances as blood. Id. (citing 
Leonard, 551 So. 2d at 1146).

Trial counsel's objecting to this testimony would have 
been meritless, and trial counsel cannot be held ineffective 
for failing to raise a meritless objection. See Bearden, 825 
So. 2d at 872. As such, this claim is without merit, and the 
circuit court did not err in dismissing it. See Rule 32.7(d), 
Ala. R. Crim. P.

b.

Wilson pleaded that trial counsel were ineffective for 
failing to object to the false testimony of Investigator Luker 
elicited by the State. In his petition Wilson cited 
Investigator Luker's testimony in which he stated that he did 
not send for forensic testing blood droplets he found down the 
hallway, in the living room, or bedrooms. Wilson then 
pleaded:
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"But the 'other droplets' in 'the bedrooms' were not 
sent off for testing, because they did not exist.
The evidence log from the crime scene lists fourteen 
swabs of 'red stain.' ... The 'location' column of 
the log shows that all of these were taken from the 
kitchen or areas immediately contiguous to it."

(C. 364-65.) Wilson pleaded that he was prejudiced by this 
false testimony because it rebutted his defense that he struck 
Walker only in the kitchen while trying to disarm him and 
because it was used to support the aggravating circumstance 
that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. 
The circuit court dismissed this claim as being insufficiently 
pleaded.

Wilson predicated his claim that Investigator Luker 
presented false testimony based on his conclusion that the 
other blood droplets did not exist. This conclusion, in turn, 
was based on his asserting that the evidence log showed only 
that swabs were taken from red stains in the kitchen or areas 
immediately contiguous to it. This assertion, even if proven, 
would not support the conclusion that the other blood droplets 
did not exist. At most, it would show that the investigators 
did not take swabs from those other blood droplets.5

Wilson has failed to plead sufficient facts to show that 
Investigator Luker testified falsely. As such, the circuit 
court did not err in dismissing this claim. See Rule 32.7(d), 
Ala. R. Crim. P.

c.

Wilson pleaded that trial counsel were ineffective for 
failing to object to repeated introduction during the guilt 
phase of evidence relating to the "especially heinous, 
atrocious, or cruel" aggravating factor. Specifically, Wilson 
pleaded that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to 
object to Dr. Enstice's testimony during the guilt phase

5Again, Investigator Luker was competent to identify the 
red stains he observed as blood. See Leonard, 551 So. 2d at 
1146. His testimony on this issue is evidence that the blood 
droplets existed.
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regarding the pain suffered by Wilson. Wilson asserted that 
the testimony was irrelevant and highly prejudicial. The 
circuit court dismissed this claim as being insufficiently 
pleaded and without merit.

On direct appeal, this Court stated:

"To the extent Wilson argues that the prosecutor 
improperly injected into the guilt phase of the 
trial issues relating to the pain Wilson caused 
Walker, this Court disagrees. In McCray v. State,
88 So. 3d 1, 38 (Ala. Crim. App. 2010), this Court 
rejected the premise underlying Wilson's argument -­
that the pain a capital-murder victim suffers is 
irrelevant and inadmissible during the guilt phase 
of a capital-murder trial. Specifically, this Court 
held that '[t]he pain and suffering of the victim is 
a circumstance surrounding the murder -- a 
circumstance that is relevant and admissible during 
the guilt phase of a capital trial.' Id. (citing 
Smith v. State, 795 So. 2d 788, 812 (Ala. Crim. App.
2000) (no error in trial court's questioning witness 
regarding the number of wounds on the murder 
victim's body during guilt phase of capital-murder 
trial despite appellant's argument that the number 
of wounds was relevant only to the penalty-phase 
issue of whether the murder was especially heinous, 
atrocious, or cruel)).

"More importantly, victim-impact statements 
typically 'describe [only] the effect of the crime 
on the victim and his family' and, although relevant 
to the penalty-phase, are inadmissible in the 
guilt-phase. Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 821,
111 S. Ct. 2597, 115 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1991). However, 
statements relating to the effect of the crime on 
the victim 'are admissible during the guilt phase of 
a criminal trial ... if the statements are relevant 
to a material issue of the guilt phase.' Ex parte 
Crymes, 630 So. 2d 125, 126 (Ala. 1993) (emphasis in 
original); see also Gissendanner v. State, 949 So.
2d 956, 965 (Ala. Crim. App. 2006) (holding that 
victim-impact type evidence is admissible in the 
guilt phase if it is relevant to guilt-phase
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issues). Rule 401, Ala. R. Evid., provides that 
'"[rjelevant evidence” [is any] evidence having any 
tendency to make the existence of any fact that is 
of consequence to the determination of the action 
more probable or less probable than it would be 
without the evidence.'

”Here, the State's theory of the case was that 
Wilson broke into Walker's house, attacked him, and 
tortured him in an attempt to force Walker to 
relinquish his property. During his guilt-phase 
closing argument, the prosecutor reminded the jury 
that Wilson was charged with murder committed during 
the course of a robbery and of a burglary. The 
prosecutor then argued that it had proved the force 
element of robbery by establishing that Wilson 
tortured Walker and caused him a great deal of pain. 
Because the pain Wilson caused Walker was relevant 
and admissible to show the force Wilson used against 
Walker during the robbery, the prosecutor's argument 
did not constitute error.”

Wilson, 142 So. 3d at 773-74 (footnote omitted); see also 
Wilson, 142 So. 3d at 792-93 (”Wilson next argues that the 
circuit court erroneously allowed the State to elicit 
testimony in the guilt phase establishing that Walker felt 
pain while being murdered. ... Because the pain Wilson caused 
Walker was relevant and admissible to show the force Wilson 
used against Walker during the robbery, Dr. Enstice's 
testimony relating to the pain Walker suffered did not 
constitute error.”).

This Court has already considered the testimony offered 
by Dr. Enstice during the guilt phase and the argument based 
upon it and determined that no error occurred. Trial 
counsel's objecting to this testimony would have been 
meritless, and trial counsel cannot be held ineffective for 
failing to raise a meritless objection. See Bearden, 825 So. 
2d at 872. As such, this claim is without merit, and the 
circuit court did not err in dismissing it. See Rule 32.7(d), 
Ala. R. Crim. P.
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d.

Wilson also pleaded that he 
cumulative effect of trial counsel' 
prosecutorial misconduct. The circuit 
claim as being without merit.

was prejudiced by the 
s failures to object to

court dismissed this

Here, Wilson has failed to plead sufficiently any claims 
of ineffective assistance of counsel related to trial
counsel's failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct. 
Mashburn v. State,
2013) (quoting 
Crim. App 
to consider. The 
claim.

See
1117 (Ala. Crim. App. 
So. 3d 131, 140 (Ala.
is no cumulative effect 

circuit court did not err in dismissing this

148 So. 3d 1094, 
Taylor v. State, 157 

2010)). As a result, there

6.

Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because trial counsel waived closing argument. 
Wilson characterized the State's closing argument as a "full 
and dramatic closing argument that presented the State's 
theory and detailed each piece of evidence.” (C. 377.)
Wilson pleaded that trial counsel should have argued that he 
”could be found guilty only of a lesser offense because of the 
absence of evidence.” (C. 378, emphasis in original.) Also, 
Wilson asserted that trial counsel should have argued his 
statement's ”unreliability, given both the circumstances of 
his arrest and its incompleteness,” and that, even if the jury 
viewed his statement as uncoerced, Wilson admitted only to 
striking Walker in the head and to choking him. (C. 378.)
Other lines of argument Wilson advanced in his petition were 
that trial counsel should have pointed out to the jury that 
the State failed to put on evidence that it was not Corley who 
had subjected Walker to more than 100 injuries, that Marsh 
benefitted the most from the crimes and was the instigator, 
and that the baseball bat was found in Jackson's vehicle. 
Finally, Wilson pleaded that trial counsel could have refuted 
some of the State's interpretations of the blood evidence and 
his confession. The circuit court dismissed this claim as 
being insufficiently pleaded and without merit.

Following the State's closing argument, trial counsel 
requested a bench conference:
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Defense: "I am getting my exercise this week. On 
the record, but away from the hearing of
the jury, Your Honor, it's my
understanding, and correct me if I'm wrong 
-- procedurally, okay -- Mr. Valeska has 
given the opening part of his closing 
statement. If I waive my portion and don't 
do a closing statement, I believe that that 
precludes Mr. Valeska from doing the 
closing part, because he has already had 
the last say. That's my understanding."

State: "That's fine. I agree. But if they are
going to do that, that's their choice. All 
I want to ask the Court is, once again, 
this is a capital. And once again, you 
know, if that's the defense counsel 
strategy, both of them, as well as their 
client's --"

Defense: "I have already talked to my client. I 
will put that on the record. And you are 
right. I mean, you're absolutely right."

State: "That's fine

Defense: "Let me just touch bases with Ms. Emfinger.
We have talked to my client. And let me 
just touch base with her that that's for 
sure what we're going to do. That is what 
I am anticipating."

Court: "While you do that, I may just send [the
jury] out for a minute."

Defense: "That would be great. That would be great. 
Thank you."

"(Whereupon, at this time , Mr. Hedeen is conferring 
with the defendant, Mr. Wilson.)"

"(Whereupon, the trial jury is excused from the
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courtroom, to which the following occurred outside 
the hearing and presence of the trial jury, to 
wit:)”

Court: "Mr. Hedeen, as I understand, the defense
proposes to waive their closing argument; 
is that correct?"

Defense: "Yes, Your Honor. I have talked with Ms.
Emfinger and with my client, Your Honor. 
And particularly after consulting with the 
Court and Mr. Valeska, it is my 
understanding that if the defendant waives 
his closing statement, then that precludes 
the prosecution from going before the jury 
again and giving what essentially would 
have been the closing closing argument or 
the second part of the closing --"

Court: "The rebuttal."

Defense: "Right. The rebuttal -- and you are right, 
Your Honor. That is a better way to phrase 
it. I have talked to Ms. Emfinger. I have 
talked to my client. They are in agreement 
that that is what we would like to do."

Court: "Okay. Mrs. Emfinger, is that the way 
feel about it, also?"

you

Defense: "Yes, Judge."

Court: "And, Mr. Wilson, are you agreeable 
that?"

to

Wilson: "Yes, sir."

Court: "You know, this is a little different, but
it is done sometimes. But you are 
agreement with that?"

in

Wilson: "Yes, sir."

(Trial R. 625-28.)
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In his petition Wilson relied on the holding of the 
Alabama Supreme Court in Ex parte Whited, 180 So. 3d 69 (Ala. 
2015), in which the Court held trial counsel ineffective for 
failing to present a closing argument. Whited, however, is 
factually distinguishable from the instant case. Most 
significant is that the trial counsel in Whited could not 
articulate a strategic reason for waiving closing argument. 
The portion of the record quoted above shows that trial 
counsel made a strategic decision to waive closing argument to 
prevent the State's rebuttal. "This is exactly the sort of 
strategic decision which the United States Supreme Court has 
held to be virtually unchallengeable in Strickland v. 
Washington." Floyd v. State, 517 So. 2d 1221, 1227 (Ala.
Crim. App. 1989), rev'd on other grounds, Ex parte Floyd, 571 
So. 2d 1234 (Ala. 1990). Notably, trial co-counsel and Wilson 
himself agreed with this strategic decision. "Even if [trial 
counsel's] failure to make a closing argument is ultimately 
viewed as a mistake unfavorable to [their] client, that alone 
is not sufficient to demonstrate inadequate representation." 
Behel v. State, 405 So. 2d 51, 53 (Ala. Crim. App. 1981)
(citing Robinson v. State, 361 So. 2d 1172, 1174 (Ala. Crim. 
App. 1978)). Further, in Whited, trial counsel had strong 
arguments against guilt; Wilson has not identified them here. 
Wilson suggests that arguing an absence of evidence could have 
garnered him a conviction on a lesser offense, but he has 
failed to identify the offense or to explain how any of his 
other arguments would have accomplished a conviction other

instance, arguing an increased 
his co-defendants would not have 
culpability, see, e.g., Sneed v. 
(Ala. Crim. App. 2007), and there 
trial counsel could have argued

than capital murder. For 
culpability on the part of 
relieved Wilson of his own 
State, 1 So. 3d 104, 125-26 
was scant evidence from which 
that Wilson's statement was coerced. With 
statement, the State asserted in closing 
deciding to "change[] it all up" indicated he decided to 
abandon the co-defendants' plan to knock Walker unconscious 
and to kill him.6 Wilson pleaded that trial counsel should

respect to the 
that Wilson's

6Wilson stated that he, Marsh, and Corley had a "sarcastic 
conversation" about "knocking [Walker] out" and stealing his 
van; Wilson added, however, "when I got there, I changed it 
all up cause I didn't want to you know just knock him out." 
(Trial C. 516.)
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have challenged this interpretation because "none of what Mr. 
Wilson said in the recorded parts of his statement 
correspond[ed] with changing the 'plan' to a murderous one." 
(C. 379.) This argument ignores, of course, Wilson's
admission that he struck Walker in the head with a baseball 
bat and choked him for six minutes. More importantly, the 
counter-argument Wilson suggested trial counsel should have 
made -- that Wilson decided not to harm Walker -- is dubious 
given that Wilson entered Walker's home with a bat and the 
only explanation Wilson offered was that he was afraid of 
Walker's dog -- a two-pound Chihuahua.

Trial counsel's decision to waive closing argument was a 
strategic decision and Wilson failed to plead sufficient facts 
otherwise. As such, the circuit court did not err in 
dismissing this claim. See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

7.

Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because trial counsel failed to protect his right 
to a fair and honest jury determination. Specifically, Wilson 
pleaded that trial counsel failed: a) to argue for the removal 
of a biased juror and b) to object to inappropriate contact 
between the prosecutor and the jury.

a.

Wilson asserted that trial counsel were ineffective 
because they failed to argue for the removal of a biased 
juror. Specifically, Wilson pleaded that trial counsel were 
ineffective for failing to take juror L.K. under voir dire 
after she revealed to the trial court that she knew Wilson and 
his mother. The admission, which came during the guilt phase, 
was that L.K. realized she attended church with Wilson's 
mother and had not disclosed the information during voir dire. 
L.K. was asked if her familiarity with Wilson's mother would 
affect her consideration of the case and L.K. answered, "I 
don't believe it would." (Trial R. 237.) L.K. remained on 
the jury. Wilson pleaded that L.K.'s response was equivocal 
and that effective counsel would have questioned L.K. further 
to ensure that she could be impartial. The circuit court 
dismissed this claim as being insufficiently pleaded and 
without merit.

35



Wilson failed to plead the questions trial counsel should 
have asked or what L.K.'s answers would have been. See Bryant 
v. State, 181 So. 3d 1087, 1107 (Ala. Crim. App. 2011). As 
such, this claim is insufficiently pleaded and the circuit 
court did not err in dismissing it. See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. 
Crim. P.

b.

Wilson asserted that trial counsel were ineffective 
because they failed to object to inappropriate contact between 
the prosecutor and the jury. Wilson pleaded that his mother 
"observed the prosecutor carrying documents into the jury room 
during their deliberations. When defense counsel was informed 
of this highly improper conduct, they did not bring it to the 
attention of the trial court.” (C. 386.) Wilson asserted
that trial counsel's failure to raise this issue to the trial 
court and to request a mistrial permitted the prosecution to 
have undue influence over the jury and create bias in favor of 
the State. The circuit court dismissed this claim as being 
insufficiently pleaded.

Here, Wilson failed to plead when trial counsel was 
notified of the alleged contact, and, more importantly, failed 
to describe any contact at all. Even taking Wilson's 
assertions as true, there is nothing in this claim to suggest 
that any jurors even noticed the prosecutor's entering the 
jury room. As such, this claim is insufficiently pleaded and 
the circuit court did not err in dismissing it. See Rule 
32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

B.

Wilson next asserted that trial counsel were ineffective 
at the penalty phase. Specifically, Wilson asserted in his 
petition that he received ineffective assistance of counsel 
because trial counsel: 1) failed to investigate and to present 
available and compelling mitigation evidence; 2) failed to 
investigate Corley's letter for evidence of reduced 
culpability; 3) failed to object to prosecutorial misconduct; 
4) failed to present any evidence at the sentencing hearing; 
and 5) failed to protect his right to a fair and honest jury 
determination.
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Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because trial counsel failed to investigate and to 
present available and compelling mitigation evidence. Wilson 
pleaded that had trial counsel conducted a sufficient 
mitigation investigation, they would have discovered and could 
have presented to the jury that Wilson suffered from 
generational poverty, familial mental illness and abandonment, 
neglect and abuse, and mental and learning difficulties. The 
circuit court dismissed this claim as being insufficiently 
pleaded and without merit.

"'"'[F]ailure to investigate 
possible mitigating factors and 
failure to present mitigating 
evidence at sentencing can 
constitute ineffective assistance 
of counsel under the Sixth
Amendment.' Coleman____ [v.
Mitchell], 244 F.3d [533] at 545 
[(6th Cir. 2001)]; see also 
Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374,
125 S. Ct. 2456, 162 L. Ed. 2d 
360 (2005); Wiggins v. Smith, 539 
U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527, 156 L.
Ed. 2d 471 (2003). Our circuit's 
precedent has distinguished 
between counsel's complete 
failure to conduct a mitigation 
investigation, where we are 
likely to find deficient 
performance, and counsel's 
failure to conduct an adequate 
investigation where the 
presumption of reasonable 
performance is more difficult to 
overcome:

"'"'[T]he cases 
where this court has 
granted the writ for 
failure of counsel to 
investigate potential

1.
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mitigating evidence 
have been limited to 
those situations in 
which defense counsel 
have totally failed to 
c o n du c t s u c h a n 
investigation. In 
contrast, if a habeas 
claim does not involve 
a f a i l u r e  to 
i n v e s t i g a t e  but, 
rather, petitioner's 
dissatisfaction with 
the degree of his 
a t t o r n e y ' s 
investigation, the 
p r e s u m p t i o n  of 
reasonableness imposed 
by Strickland will be 
hard to overcome.'

"'"Campbell v. Coyle, 260 F.3d 
531, 552 (6th Cir. 2001) 
(quotation omitted) ...; see also 
Moore v. Parker, 425 F.3d 250, 
255 (6th Cir. 2005) . In the 
present case, defense counsel did 
not completely fail to conduct an 
investigation for mitigating 
evidence. Counsel spoke with 
Beuke's parents prior to penalty 
phase of trial (although there is 
some question as to how much time 
counsel spent preparing Beuke's 
parents to testify), and 
presented his parents' testimony 
at the sentencing hearing. 
Defense counsel also asked the 
probation department to conduct a 
presentence investigation and a 
psychiatric evaluation. While 
these investigatory efforts fall 
far short of an exhaustive 
search, they do not qualify as a
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complete failure to investigate. 
See Martin v. Mitchell, 280 F.3d 
594, 613 (6th Cir. 2002) (finding 
that defense counsel did not 
completely fail to investigate 
where there was 'limited contact 
between defense counsel and 
family members,' 'counsel 
requested a presentence report,' 
and counsel 'elicited the 
testimony of [petitioner's] 
mother and grandmother') . 
Because Beuke's attorneys did not 
entirely abdicate their duty to 
investigate for mitigating 
evidence, we must closely 
evaluate whether they exhibited 
specific deficiencies that were 
unreasonable under prevailing 
professional standards. See 
Dickerson v. Bagley, 453 F.3d 
690, 701 (6th Cir. 2006).”

Beuke v. Houk,
Cir. 2008). ” [A]
to investigate must 
for reasonableness 
circumstances, applying

537 F.3d 618, 643 (6th
particular decision not 

be directly assessed 
in all the 
heavy measure of

deference to counsel's judgments.” 
Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 521-22. ”A defense 
attorney is not required to investigate all 
leads ....” Bolender v. Singletary, 16 
F.3d 1547, 1557 (11th Cir. 1994). ”A
lawyer can almost always do something more 
in every case. But the Constitution 
requires a good deal less than maximum 
performance.” Atkins v. Singletary, 965 
F.2d 952, 960 (11th Cir. 1992). ”The
attorney's decision not to investigate must 
not be evaluated with the benefit of 
hindsight, but accorded 
presumption of reasonableness 
v. Kemp, 762 F.2d 886, 889
1985).

a strong 
' Mitchell 
(11th Cir.
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"'"The reasonableness of 
counsel's actions may be 
determined or substantially 
influenced by the defendant's own 
statements or actions. Counsel's 
actions are usually based, quite 
properly, on informed strategic 
choices made by 
on information 
defendant. In 
investigation 
reasonable depends 
such information."

the defendant and 
supplied by the 
particular, what 
decisions are 

critically on

"'Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 
691. "The reasonableness of the 
investigation involves 'not only the 
quantum of evidence already known to 
counsel, but also whether the known 
evidence would lead a reasonable attorney 
to investigate further.'" St. Aubin v. 
Quarterman, 470 F.3d 1096, 1101 (5th Cir. 
2006), quoting in part Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 
527.'

"Ray [v.
App. 2011)]

State], 80 So. 3d 
In addition,

[965,] 984 [(Ala. Crim.

"'"[W]e 'must recognize that 
trial counsel is afforded broad 
authority in determining what 
evidence will be offered in 
mitigation.' State v. Frazier 
(1991), 61 Ohio St.3d 247, 255,
574 N.E.2d 483. We also
reiterate that post-conviction 
proceedings were designed to 
redress denials or infringements 
of basic constitutional rights 
and were not intended as an 
avenue for simply retrying the 
case. [Laugesen] v. State,
[(1967), 11 Ohio Misc. 10, 227
N.E.2d 663]; State v. Lott, [
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(Nov. 3, 1994), Cuyahoga App.
Nos. 66338, 66389, 66390].
Further, the failure to present 
evidence which is merely 
cumulative to that which was 
presented at trial is, generally 
speaking, not indicative of 
ineffective assistance of trial 
counsel. State v. Combs (1994),
10 0 Ohio App. 3d 90, 105, 652
N.E.2d 205.”

"'Jells v. Mitchell, 538 F.3d 478, 489 (6th
Cir. 2008).

"'"'[C]ounsel is not required to 
present all mitigation evidence, 
even if the additional mitigation 
evidence would not have been
incompatible 
strategy. 
permitted to 
arguments to 
a d v o c a t e  
Haliburton v.

with
Counsel

weed
stress

counsel's
must be 

out some 
others and 

e f f e c t i v e l y . ' 
Sec'y for the Dep't

of Corr., 342 F.3d 1233, 1243-44
(11th Cir. 2003) (quotation marks 
and citations omitted); see 
Herring v. Sec'y, Dep't of Corr., 
397 F.3d 1338, 1348-50 (11th Cir. 
2005) (rejecting ineffective 
assistance claim where 
defendant's mother was only 
mitigation witness and counsel 
did not introduce evidence from 
hospital records in counsel's 
possession showing defendant's 
brain damage and mental 
retardation or call psychologist 
who evaluated defendant pre-trial 
a s h a vi n g du l l norma l
intelligence); Hubbard v. Haley, 
317 F.3d 1245, 1254 n.16, 1260
(11th Cir. 2003) (stating this
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Court has 'consistently held that 
there is "no absolute duty ... to 
introduce mitigating or character 
evidence"' and rejecting claim 
that counsel were ineffective in 
failing to present hospital 
records showing defendant was in 
'borderline mentally retarded 
range') (brackets omitted) 
(quoting Chandler [v. United 
States], 218 F.3d [1305] at 1319 
[(11th Cir. 2000)]).'

"'Wood v. Allen, 542 F. 
Cir. 2008) . "The
mitigating evidence to 
penalty phase of a

3d 1281, 1306 (11th 
decision of what 
present during the 
capital case is

generally a matter of trial strategy."
Hill v. Mitchell, 400 F.3d 308, 331 (6th
Cir. 2005).'

"Dunaway [v. State, 198 So. 3d 530, 547 (Ala. Crim. 
App. 2009)].

"Likewise,

"'"When claims of
ineffective assistance of counsel 
involve the penalty phase of a 
capital murder trial the focus is 
on 'whether "the sentencer ... 
would have concluded that the 
balance of aggravating and 
mitigating circumstances did not 
warrant death."' Jones v. State, 
753 So. 2d 1174, 1197 
App. 1999), quoting 
Zant, 968 F.2d 1076,
Cir. 1992). See also ___________
State, 783 So. 2d 108 (Ala. Crim. 
App. 2000). An attorney's
performance is not per se 
ineffective for failing to 
present mitigating evidence at

(Ala. Crim. 
Stevens v. 
1081 (11th
Williams v.
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the penalty
trial. See ____
Conn. 171, 833 A
Howard v. State,

phase of 
State v.

a capital 
Rizzo, 266

2d 363 (2003);
853 So. 2d 781 

cert. denied, 540 
Battenfield v.

(Miss. 2003),
U.S. 1197 (2004) _______________
State, 953 P.2d 1123 (Okla. Crim. 
App. 1998); Conner v. Anderson, 
259 F.Supp.2d 741 (S.D.Ind. 
2003); Smith v. Cockrell, 311 
F.3d 661 (5th Cir. 2002); Duckett 
v

661 (5th Cir. 2002) __
____Mullin, 306 F.3d 982
Cir. 2002), cert. denied 
U.S. 1004], 123 S. Ct.

v. Woodford,

2002) 
1004],

(2003); Hayes 
F.3d 1054 (9th 
Hunt v. Lee,
Cir.) cert

Cir. 2002); 
291 F.3d 284 
denied, 537

10th
[538
1911
301
and
(4th
U.S.

1045 (2002)

'Adkins v. State,
(Ala. Crim. App 
to third remand). 
McWilliams v. State,

930 So. 2d 524, 536
2001) (opinion on return 

As we also stated in 
897 So. 2d 437, 453-54

(Ala. Crim. App. 2004)

"'"'Prejudicial ineffective 
assistance of counsel under 
Strickland cannot be established 
on the general claim that 
additional witnesses should have 
been called in mitigation. See 
Briley v. Bass, 750 F.2d 1238, 
1248 (4th Cir. 1984); see also 
Bassette v. Thompson, 915 F.2d 

(4th Cir. 1990) .
deciding factor is 

witnesses

932, 941
Rather, the 
whether additional 
would have made any difference in 
the mitigation phase of the 
trial.' Smith v. Anderson, 104 
F.Supp. 2d 773, 809 (S.D.Ohio
2000), aff'd, 348 F.3d 177 (6th 
Cir. 2003). 'There has never
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been a case where additional 
witnesses could not have been 
called.' State v. Tarver, 629 
So. 2d 14, 21 (Ala. Crim. App.
1993)."'

"Hunt v. State, 940 So. 2d 1041, 1067-68 (Ala. Crim.
App. 2005)."

McWhorter v. State, 142 So. 3d 1195, 1245-47 (Ala. Crim. App, 
2011).

"Although [Wilson]'s claim is that his trial counsel 
should have done something more, we first look at what the 
lawyer[s] did in fact." Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 
1305, 1320 (11th Cir. 2000). Trial counsel presented two
witnesses at the penalty phase -- Linda Wilson and Bonnie
Anders -­
records.

and introduced into evidence Wilson's school

Linda Wilson testified that Wilson was the second of 
three children, all boys, she had with her then-husband, 
Roland Wilson. Linda Wilson touched on her own emotional 
problems, describing an attempted suicide that occurred when 
Wilson was three years old. Linda Wilson overdosed on 
medication and then carried her youngest son next door, where 
her in-laws lived. Linda Wilson lost consciousness in her in­
laws' backyard. Wilson, who was outside, witnessed the event. 
Linda Wilson testified that she later discussed her suicide 
attempt with Wilson when he was 13 years old.

Linda Wilson's marriage to Roland Wilson ended in divorce 
the next year. The boys stayed in Milton, Florida, with their 
father and Linda Wilson moved to Dothan, Alabama. Linda 
Wilson visited her children when she could, but admitted that 
visits were sporadic due to a lack of transportation. Even 
so, Linda Wilson spoke to Wilson on the telephone once a week. 
Linda Wilson stated that Wilson began a regimen of medication 
and therapy in kindergarten. Wilson lived with his father for 
approximately 10 years before moving to Dothan, where he lived 
with his mother at the house of his uncle Angelo Gabrielli. 
Linda Wilson stated that Wilson had no friends during this 
stay in Dothan and that he was on various medications. 
According to Linda Wilson, Wilson was taking three drugs --
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Prozac, a second that was likely Ritalin, and a third that she 
described only as a "psychotic drug.” (Trial R. 725.) 
Without consulting a doctor, Wilson's mother took him off 
these medications because she believed he could not function 
on them. Wilson's stay in Dothan lasted less than two years 
because he was unhappy; Linda Wilson identified her brother 
Gabrielli as the source of Wilson's unhappiness. Linda Wilson 
testified that when Wilson "would come home from school with 
an off-task mark, my brother would want to take the belt and 
tear his butt up with it. And [Wilson] got tired of it." 
(Trial R. 723.) "Off-task" could mean something as 
insignificant as dropping a pencil on the floor or looking up 
in class.

Wilson moved back to Milton to live with his father. 
There his medications were resumed. Wilson returned to 
Dothan, however, after a couple of years because his father 
was planning to remove him from high school and enroll him in 
a trade school. Wilson completed high school in Dothan, 
graduating with a vocational diploma. Linda Wilson testified 
that Wilson stayed in his room and was not social with others. 
Linda Wilson repeatedly characterized Wilson as a follower.

Bonnie Anders, who was a neighbor of Wilson in Dothan, 
testified that she was a volunteer with the American Red Cross 
and that Wilson had aided her, without pay, in her disaster- 
relief work approximately a dozen times.

Wilson first asserted trial counsel should have 
investigated and presented evidence of the generational 
poverty from which Wilson's family suffered. For instance, 
Wilson asserted that trial counsel should have presented 
evidence of his mother's impoverished background -- Wilson 
pleaded that she was raised in a shack with a leaky roof and 
that the family subsisted on a mixture of cornmeal and 
powdered milk -- and the severe abuse she suffered at the 
hands of her alcoholic father and, after her parents' divorce, 
her older brother. Wilson also pleaded that his mother was 
overwhelmed as a caregiver to three young boys and that she 
and his father fought frequently.

Wilson pleaded that trial counsel should have 
investigated and presented evidence of familial mental illness 
and abandonment. Here, Wilson asserted that trial counsel
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should have presented evidence of his mother's suicide attempt 
and that his father was fearful that his mother was a danger 
to Wilson and his brothers. Two years after Wilson's parents' 
divorce, Linda Wilson moved to Dothan and rarely saw Wilson 
until he moved to Dothan years later. Wilson asserted that 
Roland Wilson would have testified that Wilson's separation 
from his mother was traumatic as were the occasions when Linda 
Wilson failed to see her sons as she had promised. Also, 
Wilson pleaded that trial counsel should have offered evidence 
that Linda Wilson's mother suffered from a mental illness, was 
abusive and neglectful, and had threatened suicide.

Wilson asserted that trial counsel should have 
investigated and presented evidence of the neglect and abuse 
he suffered. Specifically, Wilson pleaded that he was often 
left in the care of his grandparents and that they had to 
devote much of their attention to his younger brother, who 
suffered from cystic fibrosis. Wilson was neglected by his 
father and grandparents and rarely saw his mother. Family 
members recall Wilson's grandmother screaming at him, telling 
him that he was stupid and that he would never amount to 
anything. Wilson's father remarried when Wilson was seven 
years old, but this did not lead to increased attention -­
Wilson's step-mother showed preference for her own children 
over Wilson and his brothers. Wilson's step-mother would not 
prepare food for Wilson or his brothers and she isolated 
Wilson from the rest of his family. In contrast to her own 
children, Wilson's step-mother would not allow Wilson to have 
friends visit him or to visit his friends. Wilson's aunt 
Pamela Tankersley would have testified that she could tell 
Wilson was unhappy with his living situation in Milton. 
Wilson pleaded that moving to Dothan in sixth grade provided 
little relief. Although his uncle Gabrielli became a 
surrogate father to him -- taking him fishing and allowing him 
to leave his room -- Gabrielli was physically abusive. Linda 
Wilson would have testified that Gabrielli often beat Wilson, 
usually with a belt, and on one occasion dumped a pot of hot 
water on him. Wilson moved back to Milton to escape 
Gabrielli.

Wilson pleaded that trial counsel should have 
investigated and presented evidence of Wilson's mental health 
and learning deficiencies. Wilson pleaded that he was 
diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in
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kindergarten and declared eligible for exceptional education 
in fourth grade. At that time, Wilson was taking Ritalin and 
the antidepressant Pamelor. In sixth grade, Wilson's 
psychologist noted that he seemed unhappy and isolated, and 
Wilson's fourth-grade teacher would have testified that Wilson 
had difficulty communicating and lacked friends. Wilson's 
school records from Dothan indicated that he had social 
difficulties and that his reading, writing, and math skills 
lagged several grade levels behind. Linda Wilson would have 
testified that on two occasions she saw Wilson banging his 
head on a car and punching himself in the face while upset. 
Wilson pleaded that he had to repeat tenth grade, which led to 
his father's wanting Wilson to enroll in a trade school. In 
response, Wilson returned to Dothan to live with his mother. 
During this stay in Dothan, Gabrielli's physical abuse of 
Wilson abated and Wilson, according to a number of family 
members, felt wanted and loved. Wilson began to open up 
socially and his grades and behavior at school improved. 
Nevertheless, Wilson was classified as having an emotional 
disturbance and placed in special-needs classes. Wilson's 
special-needs teacher, Donna Arieux, would have testified that 
she wished she had had more students like Wilson -- although 
quiet, she felt he cared for others, and she never saw him 
bully other students.

In the context of mental health, Wilson pleaded that 
trial counsel should have retained Dr. Robert Shaffer, a 
forensic and neuropsychologist who would have testified that 
Wilson suffers from Asperger's Syndrome, a constituent of 
autism spectrum disorder. Those that suffer from autism 
spectrum disorder often lack social abilities and are prone to 
anxiety, depression, and self-harm. Wilson pleaded that had 
trial counsel spent more time interviewing him, his family, 
and his caregivers, and reviewing his school records, they 
would have identified red flags that could have alerted them 
to his disorder. Further, had trial counsel discovered his 
disorder, they would have learned that those who suffer from 
Asperger's Syndrome are susceptible to influence, which would 
have allowed them to place Wilson's offense in context for the 
jury. Wilson pleaded that individuals with his disorder are 
typically gullible, naive, and vulnerable to manipulation. 
Wilson specifically cited Marsh and Jackson, who were also 
taught by Arieux, as sources of trouble. If trial counsel had 
interviewed Arieux, Wilson asserted, they would have learned
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that Marsh had stolen from her three times, that she 
considered Jackson to be a liar, and that Jackson had self­
destructive tendencies. Gabrielli would have testified that 
he believed Marsh and Jackson influenced Wilson to smoke and 
drink and to skip work. Gabrielli also could have testified 
to an incident between Marsh and Walker in which Walker forced 
Marsh to pay for tire rims that Walker's son had installed on 
Marsh's vehicle. Wilson pleaded that this incident 
precipitated Marsh's planning to rob Walker to get his money 
back.

Wilson asserted that trial counsel was ineffective in 
failing to present the foregoing mitigation evidence and in 
failing to retain the assistance of experts. Wilson pleaded 
that experts would have been valuable in diagnosing and 
explaining to the jury Wilson's mental deficiencies, and in 
explaining Wilson's school records to the jury. Wilson stated 
that "[h]ad the mitigating evidence described above been 
presented fully, there is a reasonable probability that David 
Wilson would not have been sentenced to death, especially as 
two jurors already voted for life.” (C. 425, emphasis in 
original.)

However, a review of the evidence that was presented 
shows that much of what Wilson pleaded trial counsel should 
have investigated and presented to the jury would have been 
cumulative. For instance, Linda Wilson testified to her own 
emotional issues, including her attempted suicide, and her 
leaving her children after divorcing Wilson's father. Linda 
Wilson admitted to seeing her children infrequently and 
presented testimony about Wilson's taking Ritalin and other 
prescription medication from a young age. Linda Wilson also 
testified to Gabrielli's whipping Wilson for even minor 
transgressions at school and to Wilson's desire to move back 
to Milton to get away from Gabrielli. Finally, Linda Wilson 
testified on multiple occasions that Wilson was a follower. 
Bonnie Anders offered testimony to the jury about Wilson's 
willingness to volunteer, which showed Wilson's concern for 
others and his potential for rehabilitation if spared. ” [T]he 
failure to present additional mitigating evidence that is 
merely cumulative of that already presented does not rise to 
the level of a constitutional violation.” Daniel v. State, 86 
So. 3d 405, 429-30 (Ala. Crim. App. 2011). Certainly, trial 
counsel could have offered additional witnesses during the
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penalty phase, but this Court has recognized that ” [t]here has 
never been a case where additional witnesses could not have 
been called.” State v. Tarver, 629 So. 2d 14, 21 (Ala. Crim. 
App. 1993). ”'[E]ven if alternate witnesses could provide 
more detailed testimony, trial counsel is not ineffective for 
failing to present cumulative evidence.' Darling v. State, 
966 So. 2d 366, 377 (Fla. 2007).” Daniel, 86 So. 3d at 430.

Further, the mitigating effect of much of this evidence 
is difficult to assess because of the dearth of specific facts 
pleaded in support. For instance, Wilson pleaded that 
Gabrielli ”often beat [him], usually with a belt, but 
sometimes with other things.” (C. 402.) There are no 
specific facts to indicate the actual frequency of these 
alleged beatings or, significantly, to indicate their 
severity. The only injury pleaded by Wilson is that on one 
occasion Gabrielli ”took a switch and beat [Wilson] until he 
had welts all over his legs.” (C. 402.) Likewise, Wilson 
pleaded only a few instances of verbal abuse. With respect to 
Wilson's alleged affliction with Asperger's Syndrome, Wilson 
pleaded that he was diagnosed with the condition by Dr. 
Shaffer, who was retained by postconviction counsel. Wilson 
pleaded that Asperger's Syndrome is a ”constituent of autism 
spectrum disorder,” and then pleaded the typical symptoms of 
autism spectrum disorder, as opposed to the specific symptoms
of Wilson's alleged affliction (C. 411.) Asperger's
Syndrome, though, ”is essentially a mild 
United States v. Lange, 445 F.3d 983, 
(emphasis added).

_ form of autism.”
985 (7th Cir. 2006)

It is important to note that Wilson's diagnosis of 
Asperger's Syndome came well after his trial had concluded. 
”'Trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to present 
evidence that did not exist at the time of trial.' Clark v. 
State, 35 So. 3d 880, 888 (Fla. 2010).” Wade v. State, 156 
So. 3d 1004, 1030 (Fla. 2014). Wilson pleaded, though, that 
had ”trial counsel met with [Wilson] more regularly, and 
interviewed him about his behavioral and social history, they 
would have learned that David exhibited several 'red flags' 
for autism spectrum disorder, including poor social and 
communicative skills, consistently flat affect, and a history 
of depression and self-harming behavior.” (C. 413.) Yet, it 
would be unreasonable to expect trial counsel to recognize 
these traits as red flags for Wilson's alleged disorder when
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the disorder had gone undiagnosed despite Wilson's seeing 
psychologists since he was a small child.

Indeed, Wilson pleaded evidence that was not presented by 
trial counsel and may or may not have been investigated, such 
as evidence regarding his suffering from generational poverty, 
familial mental illness, abandonment, and neglect. This Court 
has recognized, though, that evidence of a troubled childhood 
may be a double-edged sword. Davis v. State, 44 So. 3d 1118, 
1141 (Ala. Crim. App. 2009). This is so because many jurors 
have had difficult childhoods, but have not turned to criminal 
conduct. Id. (quoting Card v. Dugger, 911 F.2d 1494, 1511 
(11th Cir. 1990)); see also Johnson v. Cockrell, 306 F.3d 249, 
253 (5th Cir. 2002) (evidence of brain injury, abusive 
childhood, and drug and alcohol abuse was 'double edged' 
because it would support a finding of future dangerousness).

After reweighing the omitted mitigation evidence that was 
sufficiently pleaded along with the mitigation evidence 
presented by trial counsel, this Court holds that there is no 
reasonable probability that the balance of aggravating and 
mitigating circumstances that led to the imposition of the 
death penalty would have been different. Although the facts 
pleaded in Wilson's petition depict a troubled childhood, the 
depiction is not compelling enough to overcome the 
circumstances of Wilson's crime and the three strong 
aggravating factors proven by the State -- that the capital 
offense was committed while Wilson was engaged in the 
commission of or an attempt to commit or flight after 
committing or attempting to commit a burglary; that the 
capital offense was committed while Wilson was engaged in the 
commission of or an attempt to commit or flight after 
committing or attempting to commit a robbery; and that the 
capital offense was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel 
compared to other capital offenses. Wilson has failed to 
allege sufficient facts to show that he was prejudiced by 
trial counsel's alleged ineffectiveness. As such, this claim 
is insufficiently pleaded and the circuit court did not err in 
dismissing it. See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

2.

Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because trial counsel failed to investigate
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Corley's letter for evidence of reduced culpability. Again, 
Wilson refers to the letter, allegedly written by Corley, in 
which the author admitted to striking Walker with a bat until 
he fell. Wilson pleaded in his petition that had trial 
counsel discovered and presented this evidence, it would have 
called into question Wilson's cruelty and responsibility for 
all of Wilson's injuries. The circuit court dismissed this 
claim as being insufficiently pleaded.

As discussed in Part II(A)(2) of this memorandum opinion, 
Corley's admitting that she struck Walker "with a baseball bat 
until he fell,” (C. 615), would not exclude Wilson as the 
perpetrator of capital murder. Specifically, it does not 
negate Wilson's intent to kill Walker or that the murder was 
committed in a heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner. See Ex 
parte Bankhead, 585 So. 2d 112, 125 (Ala. 1991), rev'd on 
other grounds, 625 So. 2d 1146 (Ala. 1993) (holding that the 
application of the especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel 
aggravating circumstance focuses on the manner of the killing 
and not the defendant's actual participation in the murder). 
Corley's admission, if true, would establish at most that 
Wilson had an accomplice in his beating and strangling Walker 
to death. Evidence that an accomplice was involved is not 
mitigating. Consequently, even assuming trial counsel were 
deficient in failing to investigate and to offer the letter as 
evidence during the penalty phase, Wilson has failed to show 
that he was prejudiced by the deficiency. As such, the 
circuit court did not err in dismissing this claim. See Rule 
32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

3.

Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because trial counsel failed to object to 
prosecutorial misconduct. Specifically, Wilson pleaded that 
trial counsel should have objected to the following instances 
of prosecutorial misconduct: a) the prosecutor's presenting 
the aggravator of escape; b) the prosecutor's presenting an 
argument based on an unqualified witness's expert testimony; 
and c) the prosecutor's repeated questioning and arguments
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based on facts not in evidence

a.

Wilson asserted that trial counsel were ineffective for 
failing to object to the prosecutor's presenting to the jury 
the aggravator of escape. Ten months after Wilson's arrest 
for capital murder, Wilson was charged with second-degree 
escape. Wilson pleaded guilty to the charge before his trial. 
Prior to the commencement of the penalty phase, Wilson's trial 
counsel filed a motion in limine to prohibit evidence of

and the escape charge. The prosecutor 
of Wilson's escape was admissible to 
circumstance that the capital offense 
the person was under a sentence of 
13A-5-49(1), Ala

Wilson's jail records 
argued that evidence 
prove the aggravating 
was committed while 
imprisonment. See § 13A-5-49(1), Ala. Code 1975. Trial
counsel conceded the point but argued that the prosecutor 
could not offer details of the conviction. The trial court 
agreed that the prosecutor could not offer details of the 
conviction unless Wilson opened the door.

During opening arguments in the penalty phase, the 
prosecutor stated that he was relying on four aggravating 
factors. The first was that

"[t]he capital offense was committed by a person, 
David Wilson, who was under a sentence of
imprisonment. I expect the evidence to be, after 
David Wilson was arrested and charged with the 
capital murder and the burglary, that while he was 
pending trial, that he did, to wit, escape or 
attempt to escape from the penal facility, the 
Houston County Jail, and he was convicted of that 7

7Wilson alleged other instances of prosecutorial 
misconduct, but they were not specifically reasserted by 
Wilson in his brief on appeal. Instead, Wilson merely 
pleaded, "Wilson pled other instances of misconduct, which 
counsel failed to counter, intensified [sic] the prejudice.” 
(Wilson's brief, at 81.) Because he has failed to 
specifically reassert these other claims on appeal, they are 
deemed abandoned. See Brownlee v. State, 666 So. 2d 91, 93 
(Ala. Crim. App. 1995).
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offense in May of 2006 and received a sentence for 
five years pending trial.”

(Trial R. 691.) Following opening arguments the trial court 
excused the jury and held a bench conference. The trial court 
explained to the parties that after further research he had 
determined that the aggravating circumstance that the capital 
offense was committed while the person was under a sentence of 
imprisonment would be inapplicable. The trial court stated, 
”So I think we have got a problem with that first one. And I 
think that will be a reversible problem.” (Trial R. 705.) 
The trial court called the jury back into the courtroom and 
instructed them as follows:

”Ladies and gentlemen, there was a legal issue 
that we had to address in regard to which 
aggravating circumstances the State will be relying 
on. The Court was of the opinion and [the 
prosecutor] had also pointed out that the State -­
one of the aggravating circumstances would be that 
Mr. Wilson was under a sentence of imprisonment at 
the time. That was the first one the State 
mentioned. But under the legal definition and 
requirements of conviction at the time of the 
imprisonment, the conviction that was referred to -­
the escape conviction will not be presented, because 
it will not be an aggravating circumstance in the 
case. But the State will still be relying on the 
three they mentioned, that the offense was committed 
while the defendant was engaged in a burglary, and 
then, that the offense was comitted while he was 
engaged in a robbery, and that the offense was 
especially heinous, atrocious or cruel compared to 
other capital cases. So those will be presented, but 
not the one about being under a prior conviction at 
the time of the offense in this case.”

(Trial R. 708-09.) The prosecutor asked for an instruction 
that the jury disregard that circumstance, and the trial court 
agreed: ”Yeah. You should disregard that. And that ground is 
stricken from your consideration in the case, that ground 
about being previously convicted of escape.” (Trial R. 709.)

Wilson asserted that trial counsel was ineffective for
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failing to argue the law correctly during his motion in limine 
and for failing to object to the prosecutor's argument. 
Wilson acknowledged the trial court's instruction but pleaded 
that the instruction did not erase the prejudice he had 
suffered. The circuit court dismissed this claim as being 
insufficiently pleaded and without merit.

The prosecutor's reference to Wilson's conviction for 
escape was brief and he related no details of the offense to 
the jury. As discussed above, the trial court instructed the 
jury that evidence of Wilson's escape could not form the basis 
of an aggravating circumstance and that the prosecutor's 
mentioning of it should be disregarded. Also, the trial court 
properly instructed the jury only on the three relevant, 
aggravating circumstances. ”'[A]n appellate court "presume[s] 
that the jury follows the trial court's instructions unless 
there is evidence to the contrary."'" Thompson v. State, 153 
So. 3d 84, 158 (Ala. Crim. App. 2012) (quoting Ex parte
Belisle, 11 So. 3d 323, 333 (Ala. 2008)). Even assuming trial 
counsel were deficient in failing to argue the law correctly 
during the motion in limine and for failing to object to the 
prosecutor's argument, Wilson was not prejudiced by the 
alleged deficiency. As such, this claim is without merit and 
the circuit court did not err in dismissing it. See Rule 
32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

b.

Wilson asserted that trial counsel were ineffective 
because trial counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's 
presenting an argument based on an unqualified witness's 
expert testimony. Here, Wilson referred again to Investigator 
Luker's testimony regarding blood evidence found in Walker's 
house, on which the prosecutor relied to argue to the jury 
that Wilson dragged and beat Walker throughout the house. 
This evidence was used by the State in the penalty phase to 
support the aggravating circumstance that the offense was 
especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel compared to other 
capital offenses. Wilson pleaded that had trial counsel 
objected to the evidence, it would have been excluded and the 
State would have lost its basis for its argument that Walker 
was dragged and beaten throughout the house.

In part II(A)(5)(a) of this memorandum opinion, this
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Court noted that it had held on direct appeal that 
Investigator Luker "did not offer expert scientific testimony, 
[thus,] the State was not required to establish his 
qualifications as an expert in blood-spatter analysis." Id. 
at 804. Consequently, trial counsel's objecting to this 
evidence would have been meritless. Trial counsel cannot be 
held ineffective for failing to raise a meritless objection. 
See Bearden, 825 So. 2d at 872. As such, this claim is 
without merit, and the circuit court did not err in dismissing 
it. See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

c.

Wilson asserted that trial counsel were ineffective for 
failing to object to the prosecutor's repeated questioning and 
arguments based on facts not in evidence. Specifically, 
Wilson referred to the prosecutor's arguing that Wilson 
changed his plan from knocking out Walker to beating him to 
death.

During his statement to Investigator Luker, Wilson stated 
that he, Marsh, and Corley had a "sarcastic conversation" 
about "knocking [Walker] out" and stealing his van; Wilson 
added, however, "when I got there, I changed it all up cause 
I didn't want to you know just knock him out." (Trial C. 
516.) Wilson's statement contained no further explanation on 
what he meant by "changed it all up."8 The prosecutor argued 
during the penalty phase that Wilson had changed his plan to 
a murderous one. The prosecutor also used his interpretation 
of Wilson's statement to challenge on cross-examination 
Wilson's mitigation witnesses' testimony that Wilson was a 
follower. Wilson pleaded that the prosecutor's interpretation 
was an unsupported extrapolation to which trial counsel should 
have objected. Wilson asserted that a more reasonable 
interpretation was that Wilson changed the plan to one in 
which he would avoid making contact with Walker. Wilson also 
reasserted his earlier claim that the prosecutor's argument 
was based on false testimony from Investigator Luker regarding 
blood being found throughout the house. The circuit court 
dismissed this claim as being without merit.

8Unbeknownst to Investigator Luker, the tape recorder he 
was using ceased recording before he asked further questions.
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The prosecutor, as well as defense counsel, has a right 
to present his or her reasonable impressions from the evidence 
and may argue every legitimate inference. Reeves v. State, 
807 So. 2d 18, 45 (Ala. Crim. App. 2000) (citations and 
quotations omitted). Here, the prosecutor's argument was a 
reasonable inference from the evidence. Any objection based 
on prosecutorial misconduct would have been meritless. Trial 
counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise meritless 
objection. Jackson v. State, 133 So. 3d 420, 453 (Ala. Crim. 
App. 2009) (citations omitted). Further, as this Court held 
earlier in this memorandum opinion, Wilson has failed to plead 
sufficient facts to show that Investigator Luker testified 
falsely. As such, the circuit court did not err in dismissing 
this claim. See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

4.

Wilson asserted that trial counsel were ineffective for 
failing to present any evidence at his sentencing hearing. 
During the hearing, the prosecutor revisited the facts of the 
case and asked the trial court to follow the jury's 
recommendation of a death sentence. Trial counsel presented 
some argument to the trial court regarding mitigating evidence 
-- that Wilson's parents were divorced when he was four years 
old; that Wilson's school records indicated he was emotionally 
handicapped, that Wilson was a loving son and brother; that he 
was under 21 years old at the time of the offense; that he 
graduated from high school; that Wilson voluntarily gave a 
statement to law enforcement; that Walker may not have been 
conscious during the entire assault; that Wilson had been on 
several behavior-regulating medications for many years; that 
his psychological evaluations indicated he had significant 
self-blame, which caused an exaggerated need to accept 
responsibility; that Wilson performed volunteer work; that 
Wilson had been respectful during trial; and that there had 
been two jurors who had voted to recommend a sentence of life 
in prison without the possibility of parole. The prosecutor 
responded by mentioning Wilson's escape, and trial counsel 
objected to the argument. The trial court sustained the 
objection. The prosecutor then revisited Dr. Enstice's 
findings, and while acknowledging some of Wilson's mitigating 
evidence, argued that the aggravating circumstances outweighed 
Wilson's mitigating evidence.
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With respect to what evidence Wilson pleaded should have 
been presented at the sentencing hearing, Wilson incorporated 
by reference the mitigating evidence addressed in Part 
II(B)(1). The circuit court dismissed this claim as being 
insufficiently pleaded.

Based on this Court's reasoning in Part II(B)(1), this
Court holds that Wilson has

counsel'sprejudiced by trial 
such, this claim is insufficiently 
court did not err in dismissing it. 
Crim. P.

failed to show that he was 
alleged ineffectiveness. As 

pleaded and the circuit 
See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R.

5.

Wilson asserted that trial counsel were ineffective 
during the penalty phase for failing to protect his right to 
a fair and honest jury determination. Wilson incorporated by 
reference his claims addressed in Part II(A)(7) in which he 
asserted that trial counsel were ineffective in failing: a) to 
argue for the removal of a biased juror and b) to object to 
inappropriate contact between the prosecutor and the jury. 
The circuit court dismissed this claim as being insufficiently 
pleaded.

Based on this Court's reasoning in Part II(A)(7), this
Court holds that Wilson has

counsel'sprejudiced by trial 
such, this claim is insufficiently 
court did not err in dismissing it. 
Crim. P.

failed to show that he was 
alleged ineffectiveness. As 

pleaded and the circuit 
See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R.

C.

Wilson asserted that the cumulative effect of trial 
counsel's ineffectiveness at both phases of trial requires the 
reversal of his conviction and sentence of death. The circuit 
court dismissed this claim as being without merit.

In Taylor v. State, 
2010), this Court held:

157 So. 3d 131, 140 (Ala. Crim. App,

"[W]hen a cumulative-effect analysis is considered, 
only claims that are properly pleaded and not
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otherwise due to be summarily dismissed are 
considered in that analysis. A cumulative-effect 
analysis does not eliminate the pleading 
requirements established in Rule 32, Ala. R. Crim.
P. An analysis of claims of ineffective assistance 
of counsel, including a cumulative-effect analysis, 
is performed only on properly pleaded claims that 
are not summarily dismissed for pleading 
deficiencies or on procedural grounds.”

In Part II(B)(1) of this memorandum opinion, this Court 
held that even if trial counsel were ineffective in failing to 
present the mitigation evidence sufficiently pleaded by 
Wilson, there was no reasonable probability that the balance 
of aggravating and mitigating circumstances that led to the 
imposition of the death penalty would have been different. 
The remaining claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at 
the guilt phase and the penalty phase asserted by Wilson were 
insufficiently pleaded or without merit. As a result, there 
is no cumulative effect to consider. Id. The circuit court 
did not err in dismissing this claim.

III.

Wilson asserted that the cumulative effect of all trial- 
level errors violated his right to due process and require the 
reversal of his conviction and sentence of death. The circuit 
court dismissed this claim as being without merit.

Again, there is no cumulative effect of trial counsel's 
ineffectiveness to consider. Because the substantive Brady 
claim raised by Wilson was procedurally barred, there is 
nothing to add to this analysis. Id. The circuit court did 
not err in dismissing this claim.

IV.

Wilson argues that the circuit court erred in dismissing 
his claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. 
Specifically, Wilson asserted that appellate counsel were 
ineffective: a) for failing to argue adequately that his 
arrest was illegal; and b) for failing to argue adequately 
that his statement was involuntary.
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With respect to a claim that a petitioner received 
ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, this Court has 
stated:

"'The standards 
appellate counsel was 
those for determining 
ineffective.' Jones v. 
(Ala. Crim. App. 2000), 
by Brown v. State, 903
2004) . 'The process 
selecting those issues 
most likely to prevail 
hallmark of effective appellate 
State, 913 So. 2d 460, 491 (Ala.
As this Court explained in Thomas 
2d 860 (Ala. Crim. App. 1998), aff'd,

for determining whether 
ineffective are the same as 
whether trial counsel was 
State, 816 So. 2d 1067, 1071 
overruled on other grounds 

So. 2d 159 (Ala. Crim. App. 
of evaluating a case and 
on which the appellant is 
has been described as the 

advocacy.' Hamm v.
. Crim. App. 

v. State,
7 66 So

2002). 
766 So.
, 2d 975

(Ala. 2000), overruled 
Taylor, 10 So. 3d 1075

on other grounds 
(Ala. 2005):

by Ex parte

"'As to claims of ineffective 
appellate counsel, an appellant has a clear 
right to effective assistance of counsel on 
first appeal. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 
387, 105 S. Ct. 830, 83 L. Ed. 2d 821
(1985). However, appellate counsel has no 
constitutional obligation to raise every 
nonfrivolous issue. Jones v. Barnes, 463 
U.S. 745, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 77 L. Ed. 2d 987 
(1983). The United States Supreme Court 
has recognized that "[e]xperienced 
advocates since time beyond memory have 
emphasized the importance of winnowing out 
weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on 
one central issue if possible, or at most 
on a few key issues." Jones v. Barnes, 463 
U.S. at 751-52, 103 S. Ct. 3308. Such a
winnowing process "far from being evidence

of 
477

of incompetence, 
effective advocacy 
U.S. 527, 536, 106 
2d 434 (1986).

is the 
" Smith 
S.

hallmark 
v. Murray,

Ct. 2661, 91 L. 
Appellate counsel

Ed.
is 

the
selection of issues most likely to afford
presumed to exercise sound strategy in
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relief on appeal 
F.2d 1560, 1568
denied, 510 
L. Ed. 2d 
ineffective 
prejudice, i 
that, but

Pruett v. Thompson, 996 
1993), cert. 
Ct. 487, 126

(4th Cir.
U.S. 984, 114 S.
437 (1993). One claiming
appellate counsel must show 
. e., the reasonable probability
for counsel's errors, the

petitioner would have prevailed on appeal.
Miller v. Keeney, 882 F.2d 1428, 1434 and 
n.9 (9th Cir. 1989).’

”766 So. 2d at 876.”

Whitson v. State, 109 So. 3d 665, 671-72 (Ala. Crim. App.
2012).

A.

Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because appellate counsel failed to argue 
adequately that his arrest was illegal. Appellate counsel 
challenged his arrest on appeal, but Wilson pleaded that 
appellate counsel were ineffective because their discussion of 
the facts in their appellate brief omitted important details. 
For example, Wilson pleaded that appellate counsel should have 
pointed out that the five officers who took him into custody 
all entered his home, that Investigator Luker was close enough 
to Wilson’s bedroom to make observations about the clothing 
inside it, and that Wilson was placed in handcuffs before 
being transported to the police station. Wilson also pleaded 
that appellate counsel were ineffective because they failed to 
mention Kaupp v. Texas to demonstrate the lack of consent and 
absence of probable cause, and failed to challenge adequately 
in their application for rehearing this Court’s holding 
regarding the existence of probable cause to arrest Wilson. 
The circuit court dismissed this claim as being without merit.

This Court has already addressed in Part II(A)(1) of this 
memorandum opinion the substance of this claim as it related 
to trial counsel, holding that Wilson had failed to plead 
sufficient facts to show that any of these arguments would 
have been meritorious. This claim of ineffective assistance 
of appellate counsel must likewise fail. See Bearden v. 
State, 825 So. 2d 868, 872 (Ala. Crim. App. 2001) (trial
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counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise meritless 
claim). As such, the circuit court did not err in dismissing 
this claim. See Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. Crim. P.

B.

Wilson asserted that he received ineffective assistance 
of counsel because appellate counsel failed to argue 
adequately that his statement was involuntary. Appellate 
counsel challenged the admissibility of Wilson's statement, 
arguing that its being incomplete rendered the statement 
unreliable. Wilson asserted in his petition that this 
argument was doomed to failure because appellate counsel 
failed to demonstrate harm. Wilson pleaded that appellate 
counsel should have instead challenged the voluntariness of 
the statement, and should have called this Court's attention 
to the relevant circumstances surrounding Wilson's waiver -­
the time of day, the invasion of Wilson's home by multiple 
officers, his transport to the police station while wearing 
handcuffs, the immediate commencement of interrogation, the 
isolation created by his removal to an interrogation room, his 
age, his emotional stability, and his special-education 
status. The circuit court dismissed this claim as being 
without merit.

As discussed in Part II(A)(3) of this memorandum opinion, 
"[n]one of the facts Wilson claims his [appellate] counsel 
should have presented [on direct appeal] were outside the 
record on direct appeal. Consequently, these facts were 
already considered by this Court on direct appeal when it 
engaged in a totality-of-the-circumstances analysis.” 
Further, ” [a]lthough this Court conducted a plain-error 
analysis, it held that no error occurred in the admission of 
Wilson's statement.” Appellate counsel cannot be held 
ineffective for failing to raise meritless arguments. See 
Bearden, 825 So. 2d at 872. As such, the circuit court did 
not err in dismissing this claim.

V.

Wilson asserted in an amendment to his petition that the 
holding of the Supreme Court of the United States in Hurst v. 
Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016), rendered Alabama's capital-
sentencing scheme unconstitutional. In Hurst, the Supreme
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Court of the United States held Florida's capital-sentencing 
scheme unconstitutional. Wilson asserted that Alabama's 
capital-sentencing scheme is indistinguishable from Florida's 
on the salient components. According to Wilson, neither 
Florida nor Alabama require the jury to make the critical 
findings necessary to impose the death penalty, but rather 
leave such findings to the trial judge; Florida and Alabama 
utilize an advisory jury verdict; and neither Florida nor 
Alabama juries make specific factual findings with regard to 
the existence of mitigating or aggravating circumstances. 
Also, Wilson pleaded that there were case-specific reasons his 
sentence of death was unconstitutional under Hurst. 
Specifically, Wilson pleaded that there was no evidence in the 
record to prove that the jury found the existence of the 
aggravator that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, 
or cruel compared to other capital offenses. As a result, 
Wilson asserted, the aggravator was invalid and, because the 
trial court considered it, his sentence of death is likewise 
invalid. The circuit court dismissed this claim as being 
without merit.

The constitutionality of Alabama's sentencing scheme in 
light of Hurst was squarely addressed by the Alabama Supreme 
Court:

"Bohannon contends that, in light of Hurst, 
Alabama's capital-sentencing scheme, like Florida's, 
is unconstitutional because, he says, in Alabama a 
jury does not make 'the critical findings necessary
to impose the death penalty.' 577 U.S. ___, 136 S.
Ct. at 622. He maintains that Hurst requires that 
the jury not only determine the existence of the 
aggravating circumstance that makes a defendant 
death-eligible but also determine that the existing 
aggravating circumstance outweighs any existing 
mitigating circumstances before a death sentence is 
constitutional. Bohannon reasons that because in 
Alabama the judge, when imposing a sentence of 
death, makes a finding of the existence of an 
aggravating circumstance independent of the jury's 
fact-finding and makes an independent determination 
that the aggravating circumstance or circumstances 
outweigh the mitigating circumstance or 
circumstances found to exist, the resulting death
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sentence is unconstitutional. We disagree

"Our reading of Apprendi [v, New 
466 (2000)], Ring [v, Arizona, 
and Hurst leads us to the

Jersey, 530 U.s 
S, 584 (2002)],

capital-sentencing
Sixth Amendment, 
holds that any 
sentence above 
verdict must be 
that the Sixth 
requires that 
circumstance necessary for 
penalty.' Ring, 536 U.S. 
Ring and reiterates that a

536 U.
conclusion that Alabama's 

scheme is consistent with the 
As previously recognized, Apprendi
fact that 
the range 
determined 
Amendment 
a jury

elevates a defendant's 
established by a jury's 
by the jury. Ring holds 
right to a jury trial 
'find an aggravating 
imposition of the death 
at 585. Hurst applies 
jury, not a judge, must

find the existence of an aggravating factor to make 
a defendant death-eligible. Ring and Hurst require 
only that the jury find the existence of the 
aggravating factor that makes a defendant eligible 
for the death penalty -- the plain language in those 
cases requires nothing more and nothing less. 
Accordingly, because in Alabama a jury, not the 
judge, determines by a unanimous verdict the 
critical finding that an aggravating circumstance 
exists beyond a reasonable doubt to make a defendant 
death-eligible, Alabama's capital-sentencing scheme 
does not violate the Sixth Amendment.

"Moreover, Hurst does not address the process of 
weighing the aggravating and mitigating 
circumstances or suggest that the jury must conduct 
the weighing process to satisfy the Sixth Amendment. 
This Court rejected that argument in Ex parte 
Waldrop, holding that the Sixth Amendment 'do[es] 
not require that a jury weigh the aggravating 
circumstances and the mitigating circumstances' 
because, rather than being 'a factual 
determination,' the weighing process is 
legal judgment that takes into 
theoretically limitless set of facts.' 859 So. 2d 
at 1190, 1189. Hurst focuses on the jury's factual 
finding of the existence of an aggravating 
circumstance to make a defendant death-eligible; it 
does not mention the jury's weighing of the

'a moral or 
account a
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aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The 
United States Supreme Court's holding in Hurst was 
based on an application, not an expansion, of 
Apprendi and Ring; consequently, no reason exists to 
disturb our decision in Ex parte Waldrop with regard 
to the weighing process. Furthermore, nothing in 
our review of Apprendi, Ring, and Hurst leads us to 
conclude that in Hurst the United States Supreme 
Court held that the Sixth Amendment requires that a 
jury impose a capital sentence. Apprendi expressly 
stated that trial courts may 'exercise discretion -­
taking into consideration various factors relating 
both to offense and offender -- in imposing a 
judgment within the range prescribed by statute.' 
530 U.S. at 481. Hurst does not disturb this 
holding.

"Bohannon's argument that the United States 
Supreme Court's overruling in Hurst of Spaziano v. 
Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S. Ct. 3154, 82 L. Ed. 2d 
340 (1984), and Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638, 
109 S. Ct. 2055, 104 L. Ed. 2d 728 (1989), which 
upheld Florida's capital-sentencing scheme against 
constitutional challenges, impacts the 
constitutionality of Alabama's capital-sentencing 
scheme is not persuasive. In Hurst, the United 
States Supreme Court specifically stated: 'The 
decisions [in Spaziano and Hildwin] are overruled to 
the extent they allow a sentencing judge to find an 
aggravating circumstance, independent of a jury's 
factfinding, that is necessary for imposition of the
death penalty.' Hurst, 577 U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. at
624 (emphasis added). Because in Alabama a jury, 
not a judge, makes the finding of the existence of 
an aggravating circumstance that makes a capital 
defendant eligible for a sentence of death,
Alabama's capital-sentencing scheme is not
unconstitutional on this basis

Ex parte Bohannon, 222 So. 3d 525, 532-33 (Ala. 2016).

Here, by virtue of its verdict in the guilt-phase the 
jury unanimously found the existence of aggravating 
circumstances that made Wilson eligible for imposition of the
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death penalty. ” [T]he plain language in [Ring and Hurst] 
requires nothing more and nothing less.” Bohannon, 222 So. 3d 
532. As such, Wilson's claim is without merit and the circuit 
court did not err in dismissing it. Rule 32.7(d), Ala. R. 
Crim. P.

VI.

Wilson asserted in his motion for reconsideration that 
the circuit court erred by denying him permission to amend his 
petition. At the conclusion of the circuit court's order 
dismissing Wilson's petition, it considered Wilson's general 
requests to amend his petition and denied them. The circuit 
court chronicled the history of the pleadings in the case and 
found that allowing additional amendments would cause undue 
delay.

"Amendments to pleadings may be permitted at any stage of 
the proceedings prior to the entry of judgment." Rule 
32.7(b), Ala. R. Crim. P.

"'"'[A]mendments should be freely 
allowed and ... trial judges must 
be given discretion to allow or
refuse amendments ...  The trial
judge should allow a proposed 
amendment if it is necessary for 
a full determination on the 
merits and if it does not unduly 
prejudice the opposing party or 
unduly delay the trial.' Record 
Data International, Inc. v.
Nichols, 381 So. 2d 1, 5
1979) (citations omitted). 
grant or denial of leave to 
is a matter within the 
discretion of the trial 
....' Walker v. Traughber, 351 
So. 2d 917 (Ala. Civ. App. 
1977)."

(Ala.
'The

amend
sound
judge

"'Cochran v. State, 548 So. 2d 1062, 1075
(Ala. Crim. App. 1989).'
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” [Talley v. 
[(Ala. Crim.

State,] 802 So. 2d [1106,] 1107-08
App. 2001)] (emphasis added).”

Ex parte Rhone, 900 So. 2d 455, 458 (Ala. 2004).

The record does not contain a formal motion to amend. In 
his brief on appeal, Wilson cited to two portions of the 
record as being requests for permission to amend. The first 
was in his reply to the State's motion to dismiss, in which 
Wilson generally asserted that leave to amend must be freely 
granted. See (C. 1314-19.) The second was in his motion for 
reconsideration, which, obviously, was filed after the circuit 
court had entered its judgment.9 See (C. 1779-81.)

In his brief on appeal, Wilson states that he should have 
been allowed to amend his petition to cure any claims that 
lacked sufficient specificity on the ground ”that some easily 
fixed omission had been made.” (Wilson's brief, at 99.) 
Wilson did not specifically move the circuit court for 
permission to amend. In effect, Wilson is seeking an open- 
ended opportunity to plead sufficient facts in support of his 
claims. This Court agrees with the State that such an 
allowance would ”swallow Rule 32.7(d)'s provision for summary 
dismissal of insufficiently pleaded claims.” (State's brief, 
at 8 9.) To the extent a timely request to amend was even 
asserted, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in 
denying the request.

Accordingly, the judgment of the circuit court is

9Although not mentioned in his brief on appeal, Wilson 
stated during the hearing on the State's motion to dismiss:

”To the extent the Court finds an impediment to 
our petition that we didn't name names, specific 
names of the people who could have been called at 
that time, certainly the preferred practice from the 
Court of Criminal Appeals would be to allow us to 
amend the petition on that point to name the names 
of people who were around. That shouldn't be a bar, 
frankly.”

(Supp. R. 40.)
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affirmed.

AFFIRMED.

Welch, Kellum, Burke, and Joiner, JJ., concur.
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affirmed. 

AFFIRMED. 

Welch, Kellum, Burke, and Joiner, JJ., concur. 
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